# POLITECNICO DI TORINO Repository ISTITUZIONALE

# Analysis of a perturbed Cahn-Hilliard model for Langmuir-Blodgett films

Original

Analysis of a perturbed Cahn–Hilliard model for Langmuir–Blodgett films / Bonacini, M.; Davoli, E.; Morandotti, M.. - In: NODEA-NONLINEAR DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS AND APPLICATIONS. - ISSN 1021-9722. - STAMPA. - 26:5(2019). [10.1007/s00030-019-0583-5]

Availability: This version is available at: 11583/2793212 since: 2020-02-14T15:14:35Z

*Publisher:* Birkhauser Verlag AG

Published DOI:10.1007/s00030-019-0583-5

Terms of use:

This article is made available under terms and conditions as specified in the corresponding bibliographic description in the repository

Publisher copyright

GENERICO -- per es. Nature : semplice rinvio dal preprint/submitted, o postprint/AAM [ex default]

The original publication is available at http://www.link.springer.de/link/service/journals/00030/about.htm / http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00030-019-0583-5.

(Article begins on next page)

# Nonlinear Differential Equations and Applications NoDEA Analysis of a perturbed Cahn-Hilliard model for Langmuir-Blodgett films --Manuscript Draft--

Manuscript Number:			
Full Title:	Analysis of a perturbed Cahn-Hilliard model for Langmuir-Blodgett films		
Article Type:	Original research		
Keywords:	Evolution equations; Cahn-Hilliard equation; Langmuir-Blodgett transfer; minimizing movements; fixed point theorem; thin films; global attractor		
Corresponding Author:	Marco Morandotti, Ph.D. Politecnico di TORINO Torino, Piemonte ITALY		
Corresponding Author Secondary Information:			
Corresponding Author's Institution:	Politecnico di TORINO		
Corresponding Author's Secondary Institution:			
First Author:	Marco Bonacini		
First Author Secondary Information:			
Order of Authors:	Marco Bonacini		
	Elisa Davoli		
	Marco Morandotti, Ph.D.		
Order of Authors Secondary Information:			
Funding Information:	Gruppo Nazionale per l'Analisi Matematica, la Probabilità e le loro Applicazioni (2015_000404)	Dr. Marco Morandotti	
	Austrian Science Fund (P 27052)	Not applicable	
	Austrian Science Fund (SFB project F65)	Not applicable	
	Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (FCT-UTA_CMU/MAT/0005/2009)	Not applicable	
	FP7 Ideas: European Research Council (290888)	Not applicable	
	FP7 Ideas: European Research Council (306274)	Not applicable	
	Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (FO 767/7)	Not applicable	
Abstract:	An advective Cahn-Hilliard model motivated by thin film formation is studied in this paper. The one-dimensional evolution equation under consideration includes a transport term, whose presence prevents from identifying a gradient flow structure. Existence and uniqueness of solutions, together with continuous dependence on the initial data and an energy equality are proved by combining a minimizing movement scheme with a fixed point argument. Finally, it is shown that, when the contribution of the transport term is small, the equation possesses a global attractor and converges, as the transport term tends to zero, to a purely diffusive Cahn-Hilliard equation.		

±

#### MARCO BONACINI, ELISA DAVOLI, AND MARCO MORANDOTTI

ABSTRACT. An advective Cahn-Hilliard model motivated by thin film formation is studied in this paper. The one-dimensional evolution equation under consideration includes a transport term, whose presence prevents from identifying a gradient flow structure. Existence and uniqueness of solutions, together with continuous dependence on the initial data and an energy equality are proved by combining a minimizing movement scheme with a fixed point argument. Finally, it is shown that, when the contribution of the transport term is small, the equation possesses a global attractor and converges, as the transport term tends to zero, to a purely diffusive Cahn-Hilliard equation.

### CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1
Structure of the paper	4
Notation	4
2. Functional setting, weak formulation, and existence result	4
2.1. Functional setup	5
2.2. Strategy for the proof of Theorem 2.4	7
3. Decoupling of diffusive and advective effects	7
4. Minimizing movements	8
5. Proof of Theorem 2.4	14
5.1. Fixed point argument	15
5.2. Energy equality	17
5.3. Continuous dependence on initial data	19
6. The case $\beta$ small	20
6.1. Preliminary results on global attractors	20
6.2. Existence of the global attractor	21
6.3. Further characterization of solutions	23
Appendix A.	24
References	26

### 1. INTRODUCTION

In this paper we study a perturbation of a Cahn-Hilliard-type equation with an advective term. Given L, T > 0, we consider a one-dimensional evolution equation of the form

$$u_t = \left(-u_{xx} + \frac{\partial W}{\partial s}(x, u)\right)_{xx} - \beta u_x, \qquad (\mathbf{E}\mathbf{Q}_\beta)$$

where  $u: [0, L] \times [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}$  is a function which, in the applications, represents the concentration of a phase of fluid or can be a measure of an order parameter,  $W: [0, L] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a (possibly asymmetric) space-dependent double-well potential, and  $\beta \ge 0$  is the advection velocity.

Date: March 22, 2019.

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 35K35 (49J40, 37L30, 74K35).

*Key words and phrases.* Evolution equations, Cahn-Hilliard equation, Langmuir-Blodgett transfer, minimizing movements, fixed point theorem, thin films, global attractor.

In the case  $\beta = 0$ , for the choice of the potential W given by

$$W(x,s) = W(s) \coloneqq \frac{s^4}{4} - \frac{s^2}{2},$$

 $(EQ_{\beta})$  reduces to the celebrated Cahn-Hilliard equation

$$u_t = (-u_{xx} + u^3 - u)_{xx}.$$
(1.1)

Proposed to describe the evolution of the concentrations of two immiscible fluids, equation (1.1) has been extensively studied, since the seminal paper [9], from the physical, chemical, and mathematical points of view. Variations of this model have been proposed to describe different phenomena and modes of phase separation (see, e.g., [38] and the references therein). In particular, introducing a skewness in the wells of W has the effect of selecting a preferred state of the system that minimizes the potential energy. This, in turn, can be further tailored to model a variability of the optimal configuration in space by considering a potential W that depends on the spatial variable x. When the fluids under consideration are subject to stirring, advection becomes significant and it can be incorporated in the equation by introducing the transport term  $-\beta u_x$  in (EQ<sub> $\beta$ </sub>), see, e.g., [39]. Despite its relevance for applications, the results on equation  $(EQ_{\beta})$  are mainly numerical (see, e.g., [35, 20, 36]). An analysis of related Cahn-Hilliard models with convection has been performed in [14, 17, 45]. Nonlocal convective Cahn-Hilliard equations are analyzed in [15, 16, 18, 27, 42]; see also [13] for a phase-separation result. A coupling of the Cahn-Hilliard equation with further equations for the transport velocity is the subject of [1, 2, 8, 23].

We propose in this paper a first step toward a comprehensive analysis of equation  $(\mathbf{EQ}_{\beta})$ by setting up a functional framework in which we prove existence and uniqueness of solutions, continuous dependence on the initial data, and an energy equality, for every T > 0and for every  $\beta \ge 0$ ; additionally, for  $\beta \le \beta_0(L)$ , where  $\beta_0$  is a threshold depending only on the size of the system L, we prove the existence of an attractor for  $(\mathbf{EQ}_{\beta})$ , the convergence to the solution of  $(\mathbf{EQ}_0)$  for  $\beta \to 0$ , and we quantify the distance between such two solutions, in an appropriate metric, in terms of  $\beta$ .

Our main motivation for investigating equation  $(EQ_{\beta})$  is in connection with the mechanism of the Langmuir-Blodgett (LB) transfer. Based on the pioneering results of I. Langmuir [33] and K. B. Blodgett [7], the LB transfer is a way to depose a thin film made of amphiphilic molecules on a solid substrate. The breadth of applications that involve LB films is incredibly wide [40, 43]. Many aspects of the physical process of the film formation are interesting for scientists, in particular those related to pattern formation [10, 41, 47].

LB films are obtained by pulling a solid substrate out of the so-called Langmuir-Blodgett trough, which contains a monolayer of amphiphilic molecules floating free at the surface of a liquid subphase. Depending on its area density, the monolayer can exist in two different phases, the so-called liquid-expanded (LE) and liquid-condensed (LC) phases. We are interested in the situation in which the density is kept constant during the process and the monolayer is in the LE phase. During the transfer of the amphiphilic molecules onto the substrate, the system can undergo a phase transition into the LC phase, which is energetically favoured due to the interaction with the substrate. However, different scenarios are observed experimentally depending on the transfer velocity, which plays the role of the main control parameter: the transfer of a homogeneous LC phase takes place if the velocity is sufficiently small, whereas, if the substrate is pulled out sufficiently fast, alternating patterns of LE and LC phases emerge [10]. The use of a prestructured substrate can also give more control over the pattern formation.

In [29, 46] an evolution equation in the form of a generalized Cahn-Hilliard equation has been proposed to govern the deposition process, starting from a more general model which takes into account also the hydrodynamics of the thin liquid layer [30]. Denoting by  $c = c(z, t), z = (x, y) \in [0, L] \times [0, L], t \in [0, T]$ , the concentration of the amphiphiles of a LB film during the transfer, the equation reads where  $v = (\beta, 0)$  is the transfer velocity, and the profile

$$\zeta(x) \coloneqq -\frac{\zeta_0}{2} \left( 1 + \tanh\left(\frac{x - x_s}{l_s}\right) \right),$$

with  $\zeta_0 > 0$  fixed, describes the presence of a meniscus of width  $l_s$  located at a point  $x_s$ . The space-dependent term  $\zeta$  introduces a skewness in the two wells of the potential: before the meniscus  $(x < x_s)$  it has essentially no influence  $(\zeta \sim 0)$  and the two wells c = -1 (pure LE phase) and c = 1 (pure LC phase) are at the same level; after the meniscus, the LC phase is preferred. In [29, 46] equation (1.2) is complemented by suitable boundary conditions (involving the traces of derivatives up to the second order, as well as periodicity conditions in the variable y), and by an initial condition  $c(z,0) = \hat{c}_0(z)$ . The parameter  $c_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  represents the (constant) concentration of amphiphiles at the surface of the liquid trough, which is modeled as the interface  $\{x = 0\}$ ; by consistency we assume  $\hat{c}_0(0) = c_0$ . In view of the periodicity in the variable y, we will consider in the following a reduced problem in dimension 1. It is convenient to shift the map c in order to have zero Dirichlet boundary condition at x = 0: we consider the translation  $u(x,t) \coloneqq c(x,t) - c_0$ , as well as the translation of the initial datum  $u_0(x) \coloneqq \hat{c}_0(x) - c_0$ , for  $x \in [0, L]$ ,  $t \in [0, T]$ . With these positions the evolution equation (1.2) takes the form

$$u_t = \left(-u_{xx} + (u+c_0)^3 - (u+c_0) + \zeta\right)_{xx} - \beta u_x.$$

This reduces the equation to the form  $(\mathbf{E}\mathbf{Q}_{\beta})$ , with the particular choice of the potential

$$W(x,s) \coloneqq \frac{1}{4}(s+c_0)^4 - \frac{1}{2}(s+c_0)^2 + \zeta(x)s.$$
(1.3)

The numerical analysis in [29] (see also [31] for the analysis of the bifurcation structure, and [46, 48] for the case of a prestructured substrate) highlights the presence of three different regimes, according to the magnitude of the extraction speed  $\beta$ : for  $\beta$  smaller than a first threshold, the concentration of the amphiphiles moves from the first to the second potential well, corresponding to a transition from the LE phase to the LC phase; for  $\beta$  bigger than a second threshold, the concentration remains basically unvaried, so that the film is deposed in a homogeneous LE phase; for intermediate values of  $\beta$ , the concentration varies forming regular patterns, alternating LE and LC phases.

In this work we begin laying the theoretical foundations for the analysis of  $(EQ_{\beta})$ . The result of this paper is twofold.

First, in Theorem 2.4 we prove existence and uniqueness of a weak solution (see Definition 2.1) to  $(EQ_{\beta})$ , satisfying an energy equality. Existence of solutions to advectivediffusion equations with the structure in  $(EQ_{\beta})$  has been already established by means of Galerkin methods (see, e.g., [35, 39]). The novelty of our approach is in the fact that it provides a new variational discretization and approximation of solutions to  $(EQ_{\beta})$ . Indeed, the proof strategy for Theorem 2.4 relies on the combination of a minimizing movement scheme with a fixed point argument. To be precise, by decoupling the advective and the diffusive terms in  $(EQ_{\beta})$  we first show in Section 4 existence of solutions for the weak formulation of a Cahn-Hilliard equation with a forcing term. The existence of weak solutions for the advective Cahn-Hilliard equation in  $(EQ_{\beta})$  is obtained in Section 5 by a fixed point argument.

Our second contribution is the analysis of the regime " $\beta$  small". For  $\beta$  smaller than a constant  $\beta_0$  dependent only on L, we prove in Theorem 6.5 that the equation has a global attractor, in the framework of the classical theory of semigroups (see e.g. [26, 32]). We point out that related existence results of global attractors have been obtained in [24] for a non-local Cahn-Hilliard equation without advective term, in [21, 22] for a Cahn-Hilliard equation coupled with a Navier-Stokes system, and in [28] for a nonlocal Cahn-Hilliard equation with a reaction term. Attractors for the viscous and standard Cahn-Hilliard equation with non-constant mobility have been analyzed in [25, 44]. The case of a doubly nonlinear Cahn-Hilliard-Gurtin system has been studied in [37] (see also [3] for the case of a doubly nonlinear equation with non-monotone perturbations), whereas that of a logarithmic potential is the subject of [11]. A thorough analysis of nonlocal convective Cahn-Hilliard equations with reaction terms has been undertaken in [15].

Finally, in Theorem 6.6 we provide a quantitative estimate of the distance of solutions to  $(\mathbf{EQ}_{\beta})$  from those of  $(\mathbf{EQ}_{0})$  in terms of the advection velocity  $\beta$ . In accordance with the numerical results in [46], we conjecture the existence of three analogous regimes for  $(\mathbf{EQ}_{\beta})$ . The case  $\beta > \beta_{0}$  is expected to be related to pattern formation, and, together with the higher dimensional setting, will be the subject of a forthcoming paper.

**Structure of the paper.** The plan of the paper is the following. In Section 2, we present the functional setting in which we study the problem and, after introducing a suitable notion of weak solution, we state the main existence result. We also explain the strategy of the proof. In Section 4, we describe the minimizing movement scheme, exploiting the gradient flow structure that is highlighted in Section 3; here we adapt the general results of [5] to the case of time-dependent energies, and, to this end, [4] will be a fundamental reference. In Section 5, we will apply a fixed point argument to construct the sought weak solution to (1.2) and complete the proof of Theorem 2.4. Section 6 is devoted to the analysis of the regime where the parameter  $\beta$  is small. Finally, we collect in Appendix A the statements of some technical lemmas which we use throughout the paper.

**Notation.** For a function  $u: [0, L] \times [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}$ , u = u(x, t), we will usually denote its partial derivatives by  $u'(x, t) \coloneqq \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}(x, t)$  and  $\dot{u}(x, t) \coloneqq \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(x, t)$ . We will also denote by u(t) the function  $u(\cdot, t)$  for t fixed.

# 2. FUNCTIONAL SETTING, WEAK FORMULATION, AND EXISTENCE RESULT

In this section, we discuss the functional framework to solve equation  $(EQ_{\beta})$  and we state our existence result. After presenting the precise assumptions on the potential W, we introduce the functions spaces in which we set the evolution problem and formulate, in Definition 2.1, the notion of weak solution. Then we state Theorem 2.4 about the existence, uniqueness, and continuous dependence from initial data of weak solutions, and the energy equality. An equivalent definition of weak solutions is presented in Proposition 2.5: this will be more convenient for the proof of our main theorem. Finally, in Subsection 2.2 we outline the strategy for the proof of Theorem 2.4.

We assume that the potential

$$W: [0, L] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$$
 is of class  $C^3$  (2.1a)

and that it satisfies, for every  $x \in [0, L]$  and  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$W(x,s) \ge -K_0, \qquad \partial_s W(x,s)s \ge W(x,s) - K_1,$$
(2.1b)

for some fixed positive constants  $K_0, K_1$ . Here and in the following, we denote the partial derivative of W with respect to the variable s by  $\partial_s W(x,s) := \frac{\partial W}{\partial s}(x,s)$ . Notice that the potential (1.3) satisfies conditions (2.1).

We consider the initial/boundary value problem

$$\dot{u} = \left(-u'' + \partial_s W(x, u)\right)'' - \beta u', \qquad (x, t) \in (0, L) \times (0, T),$$

$$\begin{cases} u(0, t) = 0 & t \in (0, T], \\ u'(L, t) = 0 & t \in (0, T], \\ (-u'' + \partial_s W(x, u))|_{x=0} = 0 & t \in (0, T], \\ (-u'' + \partial_s W(x, u))'|_{x=L} = 0 & t \in (0, T], \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x) & x \in [0, L], \end{cases}$$
(2.2a)
(2.2b)

where  $u_0: [0, L] \to \mathbb{R}$  is a given initial condition with  $u_0(0) = 0$ .

2.1. Functional setup. We now introduce the function spaces in which we rigorously set the weak formulation of problem (2.2). We set

$$V \coloneqq \{ u \in H^1(0, L) : u(0) = 0 \}$$

endowed with the scalar product and norm

$$(u,v)_V \coloneqq \int_0^L u'(x)v'(x) \,\mathrm{d}x, \qquad \|u\|_V^2 = \int_0^L (u'(x))^2 \mathrm{d}x,$$

obtained as the restriction to V of the scalar product on  $H^1(0, L)$ 

$$(u,v)_{H^1(0,L)} \coloneqq u(0)v(0) + \int_0^L u'(x)v'(x)\,\mathrm{d}x$$
(2.3)

(which is, in turn, equivalent to the standard scalar product of  $H^1(0, L)$ ). We denote by V' the dual space of V and by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{V',V}$  the duality pairing between V' and V, for which we will provide a convenient expression in (2.10). With this notation, we are in a position to give the definition of weak solution to (2.2).

**Definition 2.1** (Weak solution of problem (2.2)). Let  $u_0 \in V$  be a given initial datum. A function u is a weak solution to (2.2) in [0,T] corresponding to  $u_0$  if  $u(x,0) = u_0(x)$  for almost every  $x \in (0,L)$ , and the following conditions hold:

(ws1)  $u \in H^1(0,T;V') \cap L^2(0,T;H^3(0,L))$ ; (ws2) the function

$$\mu \coloneqq -u'' + \partial_s W(x, u) \in L^2(0, T; V);$$
(2.4)

(ws3) for every  $\psi \in V$  and almost every  $t \in (0,T)$  we have

$$\langle \dot{u}(t), \psi \rangle_{V',V} = -(\mu(t), \psi)_V - \beta \int_0^L u'(x, t)\psi(x) \,\mathrm{d}x;$$
 (2.5)

(ws4) for almost every  $t \in (0,T)$ , u satisfies the boundary conditions

$$u(0,t) = 0, \quad u'(L,t) = 0.$$
 (2.6)

**Remark 2.2.** Notice that the higher order boundary conditions in (2.2b) are implicitly contained in the weak formulation: indeed, we are imposing also that the function  $\mu(t)$  defined in (2.4) satisfies the boundary conditions  $\mu(0,t) = 0$  (which follows from the requirement  $\mu(t) \in V$ ) and  $\mu'(L,t) = 0$  in a weak sense (as the test functions in (2.5) do not necessarily vanish at x = L). In other words, for almost every  $t \in (0,T)$  the function  $\mu(t)$  is a weak solution to

$$\begin{cases} \mu''(t) = \dot{u}(t) + \beta u'(t) & \text{in the sense of distributions in } (0, L), \\ \mu(0, t) = \mu'(L, t) = 0. \end{cases}$$

**Remark 2.3.** The condition (ws1) in Definition 2.1 automatically implies that the map u is continuous from [0, T] with values in V (after possibly being redefined on a set of measure zero). This follows by applying [34, Theorem 8.60].

The first main result of the paper is the following.

**Theorem 2.4.** Let  $W: [0, L] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfy assumptions (2.1), and let  $u_0 \in V$ . Given any T > 0, there exists a unique weak solution u to the problem (2.2) in [0, T] corresponding to  $u_0$ , according to Definition 2.1. Furthermore, setting

$$\mathcal{E}(v) \coloneqq \frac{1}{2} \int_0^L |v'(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^L W(x, v(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x \qquad \text{for } v \in V,$$
(2.7)

the following energy equality holds true for almost every  $t \in (0,T)$ :

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathcal{E}(u(t)) + \|\mu(t)\|_{V}^{2} = -\beta \int_{0}^{L} u'(x,t)\mu(x,t)\,\mathrm{d}x,$$
(2.8)

where  $\mu$  is defined in (2.4). Finally, the solution u depends continuously on the initial data, in the following sense: given any M > 0, there exists a constant  $C_M$  (depending on M and on L,  $\beta$ , T, W) such that for every initial data  $u_0, \bar{u}_0 \in V$  with  $||u_0||_V, ||\bar{u}_0||_V \leq M$  the corresponding weak solutions  $u, \bar{u}$  satisfy, for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$\|u(t) - \bar{u}(t)\|_{V} \leqslant C_{M} \|u_{0} - \bar{u}_{0}\|_{V}.$$
(2.9)

The proof of the theorem is given in Section 5.

As V and V' are Hilbert spaces, it is possible to introduce a representation for the elements of V' which will be useful later on to rephrase the Definition 2.1 of weak solution

in a way that is more convenient for the proof of Theorem 2.4. According to the Riesz Representation Theorem, for every  $\varphi \in V'$  there exists a unique element  $z_{\varphi} \in V$  such that

$$\langle \varphi, v \rangle_{V',V} = \int_0^L z'_{\varphi}(x) v'(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \quad \text{for every } v \in V, \qquad \|\varphi\|_{V'} = \|z_{\varphi}\|_V. \tag{2.10}$$

The scalar product in V' can be expressed through the one in V as

$$(\varphi,\psi)_{V'} = (z_{\varphi}, z_{\psi})_{V} = \int_{0}^{L} z'_{\varphi}(x) z'_{\psi}(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \qquad \text{for every } \varphi, \psi \in V'.$$
(2.11)

Notice that (2.10) allows us to characterize  $z_{\varphi}$  as the weak solution to

$$\begin{cases} -z''_{\varphi} = \varphi & \text{in the sense of distributions in } (0, L), \\ z_{\varphi}(0) = z'_{\varphi}(L) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.12)

The standard identification of functions in  $L^2(0,L)$  with elements of its dual space  $(L^2(0,L))'$ , given by the Riesz Representation Theorem, can be formally expressed by the map  $Q: L^2(0,L) \to (L^2(0,L))'$  defined as

$$\langle Qu, v \rangle_{(L^2)', L^2} \coloneqq (u, v)_{L^2} = \int_0^L u(x)v(x) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$
 (2.13)

In particular, each function of  $L^2(0, L)$  can be seen as a linear map acting on V, that is, as an element in V'. In the following, we will always implicitly identify  $u \in L^2(0, L)$  with the corresponding element  $Qu \in V'$ , without indicating the map Q. Hence, from (2.13), for every  $u \in L^2(0, L)$  we have

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{V',V} = \int_0^L u(x)v(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \quad \text{for all } v \in V.$$
 (2.14)

Notice also that it immediately follows that

$$||u||_{V'} \leq L ||u||_{L^2(0,L)}$$
 for all  $u \in L^2(0,L)$ , (2.15)

since  $\|v\|_{L^2(0,L)} \leq L \|v\|_V$  for all  $v \in V$ . This identification of  $L^2(0,L)$  with its dual corresponds to the inclusion diagram

$$V \subseteq L^2(0,L) \equiv (L^2(0,L))' \subseteq V'$$

where the second inclusion is defined by (2.14).

The following proposition provides an equivalent formulation of the weak equation (2.5) in terms of the functions z introduced in (2.10).

**Proposition 2.5.** Let  $u_0 \in V$ , and let u satisfy conditions (ws1), (ws2) and (ws4) in Definition 2.1. Then condition (ws3) holds if and only if for almost every  $(x,t) \in (0,L) \times (0,T)$ 

$$-u''(x,t) + \partial_s W(x,u(x,t)) = -z_{\dot{u}(t)}(x) - \beta z_{u'(t)}(x).$$
(2.16)

*Proof.* We have to show the equivalence of (2.5) and (2.16), under the assumptions (2.4) and (2.6). By taking the scalar product in V of (2.16) with any test function  $\psi \in V$ , we have for almost every  $t \in [0, T]$ 

$$(\mu(t),\psi)_{V} = -(z_{\dot{u}(t)+\beta u'(t)},\psi)_{V} \stackrel{(2.10)}{=} -\langle \dot{u}(t)+\beta u'(t),\psi\rangle_{V',V}$$
$$\stackrel{(2.14)}{=} -\langle \dot{u}(t),\psi\rangle_{V',V} -\beta \int_{0}^{L} u'(x,t)\psi(x)\,\mathrm{d}x\,,$$

which is (2.5). Conversely, assuming that (2.5) holds and reversing the previous chain of equalities we find that for almost every t

$$(\mu(t),\psi)_V = -(z_{\dot{u}(t)+\beta u'(t)},\psi)_V \quad \text{for all } \psi \in V$$

which implies (2.16).

**Remark 2.6.** The dual space V' can be identified with the space

$$W \coloneqq \{\varphi \in (H^1(0,L))' : \langle \varphi, 1 \rangle_{(H^1)', H^1} = 0\}$$

of functionals that vanish on constant functions of  $H^1(0, L)$ . Indeed, the restriction map

$$i: W \to V', \qquad \varphi \mapsto i(\varphi) \coloneqq \varphi|_V$$

is an isometry between the two spaces (considering on  $H^1(0, L)$  the norm (2.3) and on W the corresponding dual norm).

2.2. Strategy for the proof of Theorem 2.4. Our approach to prove the existence of a weak solution is structured in two steps and consists in the combination of a minimizing movement scheme and of a fixed point argument. To briefly explain the strategy, we consider the function space  $Y := L^2(0,T;V)$  and we carry out the following program. Let  $u_0 \in V$  be a given initial datum.

Step 1. For every fixed  $q \in Y$ , we construct in Proposition 4.4 a function  $u_q \in Y$  solving

$$\dot{u}_q = (-u_q'' + \partial_s W(x, u_q))'' - \beta q'$$
(2.17)

in the weak sense, namely, recalling Proposition 2.5,

$$-u_q'' + \partial_s W(x, u_q) = -z_{\dot{u}_q} - \beta z_{q'},$$

and attaining the initial datum  $u_q(x,0) = u_0(x)$ . Notice that by construction  $u_q(0,t) = 0$  for all t, since  $u_q \in Y$ . The solution  $u_q$  will be sought for by showing that equation (2.17), for fixed q, possesses in fact a gradient flow structure (see Section 3), which can be approximated by a minimizing movements scheme. In Proposition 4.6 we show that the function  $u_q$  obtained in this way is unique.

Step 2. We show in Section 5 that the map  $S: Y \to Y$ ,  $q \mapsto S(q) := u_q$  (where  $u_q$  is the function constructed in the previous step), has a fixed point, by applying Shaefer's Fixed Point Theorem. The fixed point solves

$$-u_q'' + \partial_s W(x, u_q) = -z_{\dot{u}_q} - \beta z_{u_q'},$$

which is the weak formulation of (2.17) for  $q = u_q$ , by Proposition 2.5.

#### 3. Decoupling of diffusive and advective effects

In this section we show that for every fixed  $q \in L^2(0,T;V)$ , equation (2.17) has a gradient flow structure. For  $q \in L^2(0,T;V)$  we define  $\Psi_q \colon V' \times [0,T] \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$  by

$$\Psi_{q}(u,t) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{L} |u'(x)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{0}^{L} W(x,u(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x + \beta(q'(t),u)_{V'} & \text{if } u \in V, \\ \infty & \text{elsewhere in } V', \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where W is the potential satisfying assumptions (2.1). Notice that in (3.1) the functions  $u, q'(t) \in L^2(0, L)$  are implicitly identified with elements in V', according to (2.14).

In the following proposition we highlight the relation between the evolution equation (2.17) and the gradient flow of the functional  $\Psi_q$  with respect to the metric structure of V', namely

$$\dot{u}_q \in -\partial_{V'} \Psi_q(u_q, t),$$

where  $\partial_{V'}$  denotes the subdifferential of  $\Psi_q$  in the space V' with respect to its first variable; that is,  $\partial_{V'}\Psi_q(u,t)$  is the set of all elements  $g \in V'$  such that

$$\Psi_{q}(v,t) \ge \Psi_{q}(u,t) + (g,v-u)_{V'}$$
 for all  $v \in V'$ 

(see, e.g., [19, Definition 4.48]).

**Proposition 3.1.** Let  $q \in L^2(0,T;V)$  and let  $\Psi_q$  be the functional defined in (3.1). Assume that  $u \in H^3(0,L)$  is such that

$$u(0) = 0, \qquad u'(L) = 0,$$

and that the function

$$\mu \coloneqq -u'' + \partial_s W(\cdot, u(\cdot))$$

belongs to the space V. Then for a.e.  $t \in (0,T)$  there holds

$$g \in \partial_{V'} \Psi_q(u,t) \quad \Longrightarrow \quad \langle g, \psi \rangle_{V',V} = (\mu, \psi)_V + \beta \int_0^L q'(x,t) \psi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \textit{for all } \psi \in V \, .$$

*Proof.* Fix  $t \in (0,T)$  such that  $q(t) \in V$ , and let u be as in the statement of the theorem. Given  $g \in \partial_{V'} \Psi_q(u,t)$ , we have that for every  $w \in V$  and for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

$$\Psi_q(u \pm \varepsilon w, t) - \Psi_q(u, t) \ge \pm \varepsilon(g, w)_{V'}.$$

Dividing by  $\varepsilon\,$  and letting  $\varepsilon\to 0^+,$  we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{L} u'(x)w'(x)\,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{0}^{L} \partial_{s}W(x,u(x))w(x)\,\mathrm{d}x + \beta(q'(t),w)_{V'} = (g,w)_{V}$$

In view of Lemma 3.2 below, we find that if  $g \in \partial_{V'} \Psi_q(u, t)$  then

$$\int_0^L z'_w(x)\mu'(x)\,\mathrm{d}x + \beta(q'(t),w)_{V'} = (g,w)_{V'}\,.$$

By (2.10)–(2.11) this identity can be rewritten as

$$(\mu, z_w)_V + \beta \langle q'(t), z_w \rangle_{V', V} = \langle g, z_w \rangle_{V', V} \quad \text{for all } w \in V,$$

and in turn by (2.14) (notice that  $q'(t) \in L^2(0,L)$ )

$$(\mu, z_w)_V + \beta \int_0^L q'(x, t) z_w(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \langle g, z_w \rangle_{V', V} \qquad \text{for all } w \in V.$$
(3.2)

To conclude the proof it is sufficient to show that (3.2) holds if we replace  $z_w$  by any function  $\psi \in V$ . This is a consequence of the observation that the set  $\{z_w : w \in V\}$  is dense in V. Indeed, given any  $\psi \in V$  let  $\{\eta_h\}_h \subset C_c^{\infty}(0,L)$  be a sequence such that as  $h \to \infty$ 

$$_h \to \psi' \quad \text{strongly in } L^2(0,L).$$

Setting  $w_h = -\eta'_h$ , one has that  $w_h \in V$  and  $z'_{w_h} = \eta_h$ , hence  $z_{w_h} \to \psi$  in V. 

**Lemma 3.2.** Let u satisfy the assumptions of Proposition 3.1. The following identity holds:

$$\int_0^L u'(x)w'(x)\,\mathrm{d}x + \int_0^L \partial_s W(x,u(x))w(x)\,\mathrm{d}x = \int_0^L z'_w(x)\mu'(x)\,\mathrm{d}x \qquad \text{for all } w \in V.$$
(3.3)

*Proof.* By integration by parts we have, for all  $w \in V$ ,

$$\int_{0}^{L} u'(x)w'(x) \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{0}^{L} \partial_{s}W(x, u(x))w(x) \,\mathrm{d}x$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{L} u''(x)w(x) \,\mathrm{d}x + u'(L)w(L) - u'(0)w(0) + \int_{0}^{L} \partial_{s}W(x, u(x))w(x) \,\mathrm{d}x$$

$$= \int_{0}^{L} \mu(x)w(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \stackrel{(2.14)}{=} \langle w, \mu \rangle_{V',V} \stackrel{(2.10)}{=} \int_{0}^{L} z'_{w}(x)\mu'(x) \,\mathrm{d}x,$$

$$\square$$
is (3.3).

which is (3.3).

#### 4. MINIMIZING MOVEMENTS

Throughout this section, q is a fixed element in  $L^2(0,T;V)$ ,  $\beta > 0$ , and  $u_0 \in V$  is a given initial datum. We will exploit the variational structure of the equation

$$\dot{u} = \left(-u'' + \partial_s W(x, u)\right)'' - \beta q', \tag{4.1}$$

which was pointed out in the previous section, in order to construct, in Proposition 4.4, a weak solution u(x, t) to (4.1) satisfying the initial condition  $u(x, 0) = u_0(x)$ , as the limit of a standard minimizing movement scheme. We name it variational solution in Definition 4.5, and in Proposition 4.6 we show that it is unique.

For  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $\tau \coloneqq \frac{T}{N}$  be the time discretization step; we divide the time interval [0,T]into subintervals  $[(k-1)\tau, k\tau]$ , k = 1, ..., N, of length  $\tau$ . We define recursively functions  $u_{\tau}^k$  as follows: let  $u_{\tau}^0(x) \coloneqq u_0(x)$  and, given  $u_{\tau}^0, ..., u_{\tau}^{k-1} \in V$ ,  $k \ge 1$ , let

$$u_{\tau}^{k} \in \operatorname{argmin}\left\{\Phi_{\tau}^{k}(v) : v \in V'\right\},\tag{4.2}$$

where, recalling the definition of  $\Psi_q$  in (3.1),

$$\Phi_{\tau}^{k}(v) \coloneqq \int_{k-1}^{k} \Psi_{q}(v,\tau t) \,\mathrm{d}t + \frac{1}{2\tau} \left\| u_{\tau}^{k-1} - v \right\|_{V'}^{2}.$$

The functions  $u_{\tau}^{k}$  are well-defined in view of the following lemma.

# **Lemma 4.1.** The minimum problem (4.2) has a solution $u_{\tau}^k \in V$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\{v_n\}_n \subset V'$  be a minimizing sequence such that

$$\Phi_{\tau}^{k}(v_{n}) \leqslant \inf_{v \in V'} \Phi_{\tau}^{k}(v) + \frac{1}{n} \leqslant \Phi_{\tau}^{k}(u_{\tau}^{k-1}) + \frac{1}{n} = \int_{k-1}^{k} \Psi_{q}(u_{\tau}^{k-1}, \tau t) \,\mathrm{d}t + \frac{1}{n} \,.$$
(4.3)

By definition of  $\Psi_q$ , we have  $v_n \in V$  for every n. In view of (2.1b) we deduce the lower bound

$$\Phi_{\tau}^{k}(v_{n}) \geq \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{L} |v_{n}'(x)|^{2} \mathrm{d}x - K_{0}L - \beta L^{2} \|v_{n}\|_{L^{2}} \int_{k-1}^{k} \|q'(\tau t)\|_{L^{2}} \, \mathrm{d}t + \frac{1}{2\tau} \left\|u_{\tau}^{k-1} - v_{n}\right\|_{V'}^{2}, \quad (4.4)$$

where we have used (2.15) to estimate

$$\left| (q'(\tau t), v_n)_{V'} \right| \leq \|q'(\tau t)\|_{V'} \|v_n\|_{V'} \leq L^2 \|q'(\tau t)\|_{L^2(0,L)} \|v_n\|_{L^2(0,L)}$$

Combining (4.3) and (4.4) and using Young's inequality we obtain for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{L} |v_{n}'(x)|^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2\tau} \left\| u_{\tau}^{k-1} - v_{n} \right\|_{V'}^{2} \leqslant K_{0}L + \beta L^{2} \varepsilon \left\| v_{n} \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \frac{\beta L^{2}}{4\varepsilon} \int_{k-1}^{k} \left\| q'(\tau t) \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} dt + \int_{k-1}^{k} \Psi_{q}(u_{\tau}^{k-1}, \tau t) dt + \frac{1}{n}.$$
(4.5)

Notice now that, since  $q \in L^2(0,T;V)$ , there holds

$$\int_{k-1}^{k} \|q'(\tau t)\|_{L^{2}(0,L)}^{2} dt = \frac{1}{\tau} \int_{(k-1)\tau}^{k\tau} \|q'(t)\|_{L^{2}(0,L)}^{2} dt \leq \frac{1}{\tau} \int_{0}^{T} \|q'(t)\|_{L^{2}(0,L)}^{2} dt.$$
(4.6)

Moreover by choosing  $\varepsilon > 0$  small enough, depending on L and  $\beta$ , we have by Poincaré inequality (recalling that  $v_n(0) = 0$ )

$$\beta L^{2} \varepsilon \left\| v_{n} \right\|_{L^{2}(0,L)}^{2} \leqslant \frac{1}{4} \int_{0}^{L} \left| v_{n}'(x) \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \,.$$
(4.7)

In view of (4.6) and (4.7), estimate (4.5) can be written as

$$\frac{1}{4} \int_0^L |v_n'(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{2\tau} \left\| u_\tau^{k-1} - v_n \right\|_{V'}^2 \leqslant K_0 L + \frac{\beta L^2}{4\varepsilon\tau} \left\| q \right\|_{L^2(0,T;V)}^2 + \int_{k-1}^k \Psi_q(u_\tau^{k-1},\tau t) \, \mathrm{d}t + \frac{1}{n} \, ,$$

and yields the uniform bound  $\sup_n ||v_n||_V < \infty$ . Therefore there exists  $v \in V$  such that, up to subsequences,  $v_n \rightharpoonup v$  weakly in V and uniformly in [0, L]; in particular,  $v_n \rightarrow v$  in V'. The minimality of v in problem (4.2) follows then by the lower semicontinuity of  $\Psi_q$  with respect to the above convergences.

In the following lemma we compute the Euler-Lagrange equations satisfied by  $u_{\tau}^k$  and we deduce its regularity properties.

**Lemma 4.2.** Let  $k \in \{1, ..., N\}$  and let  $u_{\tau}^k$  be a minimizer of (4.2). Then  $u_{\tau}^k \in H^4(0, L)$  and

$$-(u_{\tau}^{k})'' + \partial_{s}W(\cdot, u_{\tau}^{k}(\cdot)) = -\beta \int_{k-1}^{k} z_{q'(\tau s)} \,\mathrm{d}s - z_{\left(\frac{u_{\tau}^{k} - u_{\tau}^{k-1}}{\tau}\right)},\tag{4.8}$$

with boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} u_{\tau}^{k}(0) = 0, \\ (u_{\tau}^{k})'(L) = 0, \\ \left( -(u_{\tau}^{k})'' + \partial_{s}W(\cdot, u_{\tau}^{k}(\cdot)) \right)_{|_{x=0}} = 0, \\ \left( -(u_{\tau}^{k})'' + \partial_{s}W(\cdot, u_{\tau}^{k}(\cdot)) \right)'_{|_{x=L}} = 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.9)$$

In addition,

$$\left\|u_{\tau}^{k}\right\|_{H^{3}(0,L)} \leq CK\left(1 + \left\|u_{\tau}^{k}\right\|_{H^{1}(0,L)}\right) + \frac{C\beta}{\sqrt{\tau}} \left\|q\right\|_{L^{2}((k-1)\tau,k\tau;V)} + \left\|\frac{u_{\tau}^{k} - u_{\tau}^{k-1}}{\tau}\right\|_{V'}$$
(4.10)

and

$$\left\| (u_{\tau}^{k})^{iv} \right\|_{V'} \leqslant CK \left( K + K \|u_{\tau}^{k}\|_{H^{1}(0,L)}^{2} + \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\tau}} \|q\|_{L^{2}((k-1)\tau,k\tau;V)} + \left\| \frac{u_{\tau}^{k} - u_{\tau}^{k-1}}{\tau} \right\|_{V'} \right), \quad (4.11)$$

where C is a uniform constant depending only on L, and

$$K = K\left(W, \|u_{\tau}^{k}\|_{\infty}\right) \coloneqq \|W\|_{C^{3}\left([0,L]\times S\right)}, \qquad S \coloneqq \left\{s \in \mathbb{R} : |s| \leqslant \|u_{\tau}^{k}\|_{\infty}\right\}.$$

$$(4.12)$$

*Proof.* We fix  $w \in V$  and  $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{R}$ . By using  $u_{\tau}^k + \varepsilon w$  as a competitor in the minimum problem (4.2) solved by  $u_{\tau}^k$  we have

$$\int_{k-1}^{k} \Psi_{q}(u_{\tau}^{k},\tau s) \,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{2\tau} \left\| u_{\tau}^{k} - u_{\tau}^{k-1} \right\|_{V'}^{2} \leqslant \int_{k-1}^{k} \Psi_{q}(u_{\tau}^{k} + \varepsilon w,\tau s) \,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{2\tau} \left\| u_{\tau}^{k} + \varepsilon w - u_{\tau}^{k-1} \right\|_{V'}^{2},$$

so that dividing by  $\varepsilon$  and letting  $\varepsilon \to 0$  we obtain that for every  $w \in V$ 

$$\int_{0}^{L} (u_{\tau}^{k})'w' \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{0}^{L} \partial_{s} W(x, u_{\tau}^{k}(x))w(x) \,\mathrm{d}x + \beta \int_{k-1}^{k} (q'(\tau s), w)_{V'} \,\mathrm{d}s + (\delta u_{\tau}^{k}, w)_{V'} = 0, \quad (4.13)$$

where we have defined  $\delta u_{\tau}^k \coloneqq (u_{\tau}^k - u_{\tau}^{k-1})/\tau$  to simplify the notation. We observe that by (2.11), (2.10), and (2.14)

$$(\delta u_{\tau}^{k}, w)_{V'} = \int_{0}^{L} z_{\delta u_{\tau}^{k}}'(x) z_{w}'(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \left\langle w, z_{\delta u_{\tau}^{k}} \right\rangle_{V', V} = \int_{0}^{L} z_{\delta u_{\tau}^{k}}(x) w(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \,, \tag{4.14}$$

and similarly

$$(q'(\tau s), w)_{V'} = \int_0^L z_{q'(\tau s)}(x) w(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \,. \tag{4.15}$$

Notice that the map  $t \mapsto z_{q'(t)}$  is measurable from (0,T) to V, thanks to Lemma A.2 applied to q', thus the map  $t \mapsto \int_0^L z_{q'(t)}(x)w(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$  is measurable as well, and

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left| \int_{0}^{L} z_{q'(t)}(x) w(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \right| \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{T} \left| (q'(t), w)_{V'} \right| \, \mathrm{d}t \overset{(2.15)}{\leqslant} L^{2} \, \|w\|_{L^{2}(0,L)} \int_{0}^{T} \|q'(t)\|_{L^{2}(0,L)} \, \mathrm{d}t < \infty.$$

$$(4.16)$$

In view of estimate (4.16) and Fubini's theorem, the third term in (4.13) becomes

$$\beta \int_{k-1}^{k} (q'(\tau s), w)_{V'} \,\mathrm{d}s \stackrel{(4.15)}{=} \beta \int_{k-1}^{k} \left( \int_{0}^{L} z_{q'(s\tau)} w \,\mathrm{d}x \right) \,\mathrm{d}s = \beta \int_{0}^{L} \left( \int_{k-1}^{k} z_{q'(s\tau)} \,\mathrm{d}s \right) w \,\mathrm{d}x.$$
(4.17)

Therefore, by combining (4.13), (4.14) and (4.17), we deduce that for every  $w \in V$ 

$$\begin{split} \int_0^L (u_\tau^k)' w' \, \mathrm{d}x &+ \int_0^L \partial_s W(x, u_\tau^k(x)) w(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \beta \int_0^L \left( \int_{k-1}^k z_{q'(s\tau)}(x) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) w(x) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^L z_{\delta u_\tau^k}(x) w(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \, . \end{split}$$

In particular,  $u_{\tau}^k$  is a weak solution to the equation

$$\begin{cases} -(u_{\tau}^{k})^{\prime\prime} = -\partial_{s}W(\cdot, u_{\tau}^{k}(\cdot)) - \beta \int_{k-1}^{k} z_{q^{\prime}(\tau s)} \, \mathrm{d}s - z_{\delta u_{\tau}^{k}}, \\ u_{\tau}^{k}(0) = 0, \\ (u_{\tau}^{k})^{\prime}(L) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.18)

We turn to the proof of the  $H^4$ -regularity of  $u_{\tau}^k$ , together with the bounds (4.10)–(4.11) and the last two conditions in (4.9). In the following estimates, C will denote a positive constant depending possibly only on L, and which might change from line to line. Notice first that  $u_{\tau}^k$  is a continuous function in [0, L] and in particular  $||u_{\tau}^k||_{L^{\infty}(0,L)} < \infty$ . We can now estimate the right-hand side of (4.18) in  $H^1(0, L)$  as follows. Using the regularity assumption on W it is straightforward to obtain that

$$\left\|\partial_{s}W(\cdot, u_{\tau}^{k}(\cdot))\right\|_{H^{1}(0,L)} \leqslant CK\left(1 + \|u_{\tau}^{k}\|_{H^{1}(0,L)}\right),\tag{4.19}$$

where K is the constant defined in (4.12). By (2.12),  $z_{q'(s)} \in H^2(0,L)$  with

$$\left\| z_{q'(s)} \right\|_{H^2(0,L)} \leq C \left\| q'(s) \right\|_{L^2(0,L)} \leq C \left\| q(s) \right\|_V$$

and in turn

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \int_{k-1}^{k} z_{q'(s\tau)} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\right\|_{H^{2}(0,L)} &\leq \int_{k-1}^{k} \left\| z_{q'(s\tau)} \right\|_{H^{2}(0,L)} \,\mathrm{d}s \leq \left( \int_{k-1}^{k} \left\| z_{q'(s\tau)} \right\|_{H^{2}(0,L)}^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq C \left( \int_{k-1}^{k} \left\| q(s\tau) \right\|_{V}^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq C \left( \frac{1}{\tau} \int_{(k-1)\tau}^{k\tau} \left\| q(s) \right\|_{V}^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{aligned}$$
(4.20)

By (2.10)–(2.12) there holds

$$\|z_{\delta u_{\tau}^{k}}\|_{H^{1}(0,L)} = \|\delta u_{\tau}^{k}\|_{V'}, \qquad \|z_{\delta u_{\tau}^{k}}''\|_{V'} = \|\delta u_{\tau}^{k}\|_{V'}.$$
(4.21)

Combining (4.19), (4.20), and the first equality in (4.21), we see that the right-hand side of the first equation in (4.18) is in  $H^1(0,L)$ , and therefore  $u_{\tau}^k \in H^3(0,L)$  and the estimate (4.10) holds.

We can now further improve the regularity of  $u_{\tau}^k$  by a bootstrap argument. Indeed, the regularity of W, (4.10), and (4.19) yield

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \partial_{s} W(\cdot, u_{\tau}^{k}(\cdot)) \right\|_{H^{2}(0,L)} &\leq CK \Big( 1 + \|u_{\tau}^{k}\|_{H^{1}(0,L)}^{2} + \|u_{\tau}^{k}\|_{H^{2}(0,L)} \Big) \\ &\leq CK \Big( K + K \|u_{\tau}^{k}\|_{H^{1}(0,L)}^{2} + \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\tau}} \|q\|_{L^{2}((k-1)\tau,k\tau;V)} + \left\|\delta u_{\tau}^{k}\right\|_{V'} \Big). \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.22)$$

Therefore, by (4.22), (4.20), and (2.12), the right-hand side of the first equation in (4.18) belongs to  $H^2(0,L)$ , so that  $u_{\tau}^k \in H^4(0,L)$ . Furthermore, we can estimate the V'-norm of the fourth derivative of  $u_{\tau}^k$  by the V'-norm of the second derivative of the right-hand side of (4.18): combining (4.22), (4.20), and the second equation in (4.21), we obtain (4.11).

Finally, it is straightforward to check that

$$-\left(\int_{k-1}^{k} z_{q'(t\tau)} \, \mathrm{d}t\right)'' = \int_{k-1}^{k} q'(t\tau) \, \mathrm{d}t \,,$$

and since the function  $\int_{k-1}^{k} z_{q'(t\tau)} dt$  vanishes in x = 0 and has first derivative vanishing in x = L, we conclude by (2.12) that

$$\int_{k-1}^{k} z_{q'(t\tau)} \,\mathrm{d}t = z_{\int_{k-1}^{k} q'(t\tau) \,\mathrm{d}t}.$$
(4.23)

Thus, the regularity of  $u_{\tau}^{k}$  and (4.8) yield the last two conditions in (4.9).

We next introduce the piecewise affine and the piecewise constant interpolants of the functions  $u_{\tau}^k$ :

$$u_{\tau}(t) \coloneqq u_{\tau}^{k-1} + \left(\frac{t - (k-1)\tau}{\tau}\right)(u_{\tau}^k - u_{\tau}^{k-1}), \quad \text{for } (k-1)\tau \leqslant t \leqslant k\tau, \tag{4.24a}$$

$$\tilde{u}_{\tau}(t) \coloneqq u_{\tau}^k, \quad \text{for } (k-1)\tau < t \le k\tau.$$
(4.24b)

Notice that  $u_{\tau}(0,t) = 0$  for all t, and, in particular,  $u_{\tau}(t) \in V$  for all t. In addition,  $u_{\tau}(x,0) = \tilde{u}_{\tau}(x,0) = u_0(x)$ , and

$$\dot{u}_{\tau}(x,t) = \frac{u_{\tau}^k - u_{\tau}^{k-1}}{\tau} \quad \text{for } (k-1)\tau < t < k\tau.$$

By Lemma 4.2 we deduce the following uniform estimates.

**Lemma 4.3.** Let  $u_{\tau}$  and  $\tilde{u}_{\tau}$  be defined as in (4.24a) and (4.24b), respectively. There exist constants  $M_1$  and  $M_2$ , dependent on  $||q||_{L^2(0,T;V)}$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\mathcal{E}(u_0)$ , L, T and on the potential W, such that

$$\sup_{\tau} \|u_{\tau}\|_{C^0([0,T];V)} \leqslant M_1, \tag{4.25}$$

$$\sup_{\tau} \|\dot{u}_{\tau}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V')} \leqslant M_{1}, \tag{4.26}$$

$$\sup_{\tau} \|\tilde{u}_{\tau}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;H^{3}(0,L))} \leq M_{2}, \tag{4.27}$$

$$\sup \|\tilde{u}_{\tau}^{(iv)}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V')} \leqslant M_{2}.$$
(4.28)

*Proof.* By minimality of  $u_{\tau}^k$  and using  $u_{\tau}^{k-1}$  as a competitor in the minimum problem (4.2), we have  $\Phi_{\tau}^k(u_{\tau}^k) \leq \Phi_{\tau}^k(u_{\tau}^{k-1})$ , or explicitly

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_0^L \left| (u_\tau^k)'(x) \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^L W(x, u_\tau^k(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x + \beta \int_{k-1}^k (q'(t\tau), u_\tau^k)_{V'} \, \mathrm{d}t + \frac{1}{2} \int_{(k-1)\tau}^{k\tau} \left\| \dot{u}_\tau(t) \right\|_{V'}^2 \, \mathrm{d}t \\ \leqslant \frac{1}{2} \int_0^L \left| (u_\tau^{k-1})'(x) \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^L W(x, u_\tau^{k-1}(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x + \beta \int_{k-1}^k (q'(t\tau), u_\tau^{k-1})_{V'} \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

Iterating this estimate it follows that

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_0^L \left| (u_\tau^k)'(x) \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^L W(x, u_\tau^k(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x + \beta \sum_{j=1}^k \int_{j-1}^j (q'(t\tau), u_\tau^j - u_\tau^{j-1})_{V'} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{k\tau} \left\| \dot{u}_\tau(t) \right\|_{V'}^2 \, \mathrm{d}t \leqslant \frac{1}{2} \int_0^L \left| u_0'(x) \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^L W(x, u_0(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{E}(u_0),$$

namely, by (2.1b),

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{L} \left| (u_{\tau}^{k})'(x) \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}x + \int_{0}^{k\tau} \left( \beta q'(t) + \frac{1}{2} \dot{u}_{\tau}(t), \dot{u}_{\tau}(t) \right)_{V'} \mathrm{d}t \leqslant \mathcal{E}(u_{0}) + K_{0}L,$$
(4.29)

for every  $k = 1, \ldots, N$ . Young's inequality implies

$$\int_{0}^{k\tau} \left(\beta q'(t) + \frac{1}{2} \dot{u}_{\tau}(t), \dot{u}_{\tau}(t)\right)_{V'} dt \ge -\beta \int_{0}^{k\tau} \|q'(t)\|_{V'} \|\dot{u}_{\tau}(t)\|_{V'} dt + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{k\tau} \|\dot{u}_{\tau}(t)\|_{V'}^{2} dt$$
$$\ge -\frac{1}{4} \int_{0}^{k\tau} \|\dot{u}_{\tau}(t)\|_{V'}^{2} dt - \beta^{2} \int_{0}^{k\tau} \|q'(t)\|_{V'}^{2} dt + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{k\tau} \|\dot{u}_{\tau}(t)\|_{V'}^{2} dt$$
$$= \frac{1}{4} \int_{0}^{k\tau} \|\dot{u}_{\tau}(t)\|_{V'}^{2} dt - \beta^{2} \int_{0}^{k\tau} \|q'(t)\|_{V'}^{2} dt,$$

which, combined with (4.29), yields, in view of (2.15),

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_0^L \left| (u_\tau^k)'(x) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{4} \int_0^{k\tau} \left\| \dot{u}_\tau(t) \right\|_{V'}^2 \mathrm{d}t \le L^2 \beta^2 \int_0^T \left\| q'(t) \right\|_{L^2(0,L)}^2 \mathrm{d}t + \mathcal{E}(u_0) + K_0 L,$$

where the integral on the right-hand side is finite since  $q \in L^2(0,T;V)$ . It follows that

$$\sup_{k,\tau} \|u_{\tau}^{k}\|_{H^{1}(0,L)} \leqslant M_{1}, \qquad \sup_{\tau} \|\dot{u}_{\tau}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V')} \leqslant M_{1},$$
(4.30)

with  $M_1 = 2L\beta \|q\|_{L^2(0,T;V)} + 2\sqrt{\mathcal{E}(u_0) + K_0L}$ . Therefore estimates (4.25) and (4.26) are a direct consequence of (4.30), by definition of  $u_{\tau}$ .

Notice now that the constant K defined in (4.12), which in principle depends on the  $L^{\infty}$ -norm of  $u_{\tau}^{k}$ , is uniformly bounded with respect to  $\tau$  and k by a constant  $M_{2}$  as in the statement, in view of (4.30). Then property (4.27) follows by integrating (4.10) in the interval  $((k-1)\tau, k\tau)$ , summing over k, and using (4.25)–(4.26). Similarly, (4.28) follows by integrating (4.11) in  $((k-1)\tau, k\tau)$  and summing over k.

The uniform estimates obtained in Lemma 4.3 allow us to extract a subsequence of  $\{u_{\tau}\}$  converging, as  $\tau \to 0$ , to a limit function  $u_{\infty}$ . In turn, by passing to the limit in the equation (4.8) satisfied by  $u_{\tau}^k$ , we deduce that  $u_{\infty}$  actually solves problem (4.1) in a weak sense. This is the content of the following proposition.

**Proposition 4.4.** There exists a map  $u_{\infty} \in L^2(0,T; H^3(0,L)) \cap H^1(0,T;V')$  such that, up to the extraction of a (not relabeled) subsequence, the following convergences hold true as  $\tau \to 0$ :

- (i)  $u_{\tau} \to u_{\infty}$  in  $C^{0}([0,T];V')$ ,
- (ii)  $u_{\tau}(t) \rightharpoonup u_{\infty}(t)$  weakly in  $H^{1}(0,L)$  for every  $t \in [0,T]$ ,
- (iii)  $u_{\tau} \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} u_{\infty}$  weakly\* in  $L^{\infty}(0,T;V)$ ,
- (iv)  $\tilde{u}_{\tau} \rightharpoonup u_{\infty}$  weakly in  $L^2(0,T; H^3(0,L))$ .

In addition,  $u_{\infty}$  solves for almost every  $(x,t) \in (0,L) \times (0,T)$ 

$$-u_{\infty}''(x,t) + \partial_s W(x,u_{\infty}(x,t)) = -z_{\dot{u}_{\infty}(t)}(x) - \beta z_{q'(t)}(x)$$
(4.31)

with  $u_{\infty}(x,0) = u_0(x)$ ,  $u_{\infty}(0,t) = u'_{\infty}(L,t) = 0$ .

*Proof.* We divide the proof of the proposition into two steps. Step 1: compactness. In view of (4.26) we obtain for all  $0 \le s \le t \le T$ 

$$\sup_{\tau} \|u_{\tau}(t) - u_{\tau}(s)\|_{V'}^{2} \leqslant \sup_{\tau} \left( \int_{s}^{t} \|\dot{u}_{\tau}(r)\|_{V'} \, \mathrm{d}r \right)^{2} \\
\leqslant (t-s) \sup_{\tau} \int_{s}^{t} \|\dot{u}_{\tau}(r)\|_{V'}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}r \leqslant M_{1}^{2}(t-s),$$
(4.32)

which shows that the family of functions  $\{u_{\tau}\}_{\tau}$  is uniformly equicontinuous from [0,T] to V'. In addition,  $\{u_{\tau}(t)\}_{\tau}$  is relatively compact in V' for all  $t \in [0,T]$ : indeed, by (4.25) the functions  $u_{\tau}(t)$  are equibounded in V, and thus up to subsequences they converge strongly in  $L^2(0,L)$  and, in turn, in V'. Hence by Ascoli-Arzelà Theorem we can extract a (not relabeled) subsequence such that (i) holds. Since the sequence  $(u_{\tau})_{\tau}$  is uniformly bounded in  $H^1(0,T;V')$  by (4.26), it follows that

$$\dot{u}_{\tau} \rightharpoonup \dot{u}_{\infty}$$
 weakly in  $L^2(0,T;V')$ . (4.33)

and  $u_{\infty} \in H^1(0,T;V')$ . Properties (ii) and (iii) are consequences of the uniform estimate (4.25).

Notice that for all  $t \in (0,T]$  we have  $\tilde{u}_{\tau}(t) = u_{\tau}^k = u_{\tau}(k\tau)$  for some  $k \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ , hence by (4.32) and (i)

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{u}_{\tau}(t) - u_{\infty}(t)\|_{V'} &\leq \|u_{\tau}(k\tau) - u_{\tau}(t)\|_{V'} + \|u_{\tau}(t) - u_{\infty}(t)\|_{V'} \\ &\leq M_{1}\sqrt{\tau} + \|u_{\tau}(t) - u_{\infty}(t)\|_{V'} \to 0, \end{split}$$

that is,

 $\tilde{u}_{\tau}(t) \rightarrow u_{\infty}(t)$  strongly in V', for every  $t \in [0, T]$ .

This identifies the pointwise limit of  $\tilde{u}_{\tau}$ ; then estimate (4.27) implies (iv) and yields the regularity  $u_{\infty} \in L^2(0,T; H^3(0,L))$ .

Step 2: derivation of the equation for  $u_{\infty}$ . We turn to the proof of (4.31). We can rewrite the discrete equation (4.8) using the interpolants  $u_{\tau}$ ,  $\tilde{u}_{\tau}$  in the form

$$-\tilde{u}_{\tau}''(x,t) + \partial_s W(x,\tilde{u}_{\tau}(x,t)) = -z_{\dot{u}_{\tau}(t)}(x) - \beta \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left( \int_{k-1}^{k} z_{q'(\tau s)} \mathrm{d}s \right) \chi_{((k-1)\tau,k\tau)}(t)$$
(4.34)

for almost every  $(x,t) \in (0,L) \times (0,T)$ . Notice that by (4.23) the last term in (4.34) can be written as  $\beta z_{r_{\tau}(t)}$ , where

$$r_{\tau}(t) := \frac{1}{\tau} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \chi_{((k-1)\tau,k\tau)}(t) \int_{(k-1)\tau}^{k\tau} q'(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \, .$$

Then by testing (4.34) with an arbitrary function  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}([0, L] \times [0, T])$  we have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{L} \left( -\tilde{u}_{\tau}''(x,t) + \partial_{s} W(x,\tilde{u}_{\tau}(x,t)) \right) \varphi(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ = -\int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{L} z_{\dot{u}_{\tau}(t)}(x) \varphi(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t - \beta \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{L} z_{r_{\tau}(t)}(x) \varphi(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \,.$$
(4.35)

In order to pass to the limit as  $\tau \to 0$  in (4.35), observe first that by (iv) we have  $\tilde{u}''_{\tau} \to u''_{\infty}$ weakly in  $L^2(0,T,H^1(0,L))$ . By (4.30), for every fixed  $t \in [0,T]$  the sequence  $(\tilde{u}_{\tau}(t))_{\tau}$  is uniformly bounded in V, so that we have also  $\tilde{u}_{\tau}(t) \to u_{\infty}(t)$  uniformly in [0,L] and, in turn,  $\partial_s W(x, \tilde{u}_{\tau}(x,t)) \to \partial_s W(x, u_{\infty}(x,t))$  for every (x,t). By (4.33) there holds  $z_{\dot{u}_{\tau}} \to z_{\dot{u}_{\infty}}$ weakly in  $L^2(0,T;V)$ . Finally, Lemma A.1 yields that  $r_{\tau} \to q'$  weakly in  $L^2(0,T;L^2(0,L))$ , so that  $z_{r_{\tau}(t)} \to z_{q'(t)}$  weakly in  $L^2(0,T;V)$ .

In view of all these convergences we can then pass to the limit as  $\tau \to 0$  in (4.35):

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \int_0^L \left( -u_\infty''(x,t) + \partial_s W(x,u_\infty(x,t)) \right) \varphi(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &= -\int_0^T \int_0^L z_{\dot{u}_\infty(t)}(x) \varphi(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t - \beta \int_0^T \int_0^L z_{q'(t)}(x) \varphi(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \,, \end{split}$$

and as the test function  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}([0, L] \times [0, T])$  is arbitrary we conclude that the equation (4.31) holds pointwise almost everywhere in  $(0, L) \times (0, T)$ .

**Definition 4.5.** We say that u is a *variational solution* to (4.1) with initial datum  $u_0 \in V$  if u is the limit of a subsequence of minimizing movements as in Proposition 4.4.

The following proposition implies in particular the uniqueness of the variational solution for every given  $q \in L^2(0,T;V)$ , since, by Proposition 4.4, every variational solution satisfies the regularity assumptions in Proposition 4.6.

**Proposition 4.6.** Let  $q \in L^2(0,T;V)$  and let  $u_0 \in V$ . Then there exists a unique function  $u_q \in L^2(0,T;H^3(0,L)) \cap H^1(0,T;V')$  such that for almost every  $(x,t) \in (0,L) \times (0,T)$ 

$$-u_{q}''(x,t) + \partial_{s}W(x,u_{q}(x,t)) = -z_{\dot{u}_{q}(t)+\beta q'(t)}(x)$$
(4.36)

with  $u_q(x,0) = u_0(x)$  and  $u_q(0,t) = u'_q(L,t) = 0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $u_1, u_2$  be two solutions of (4.36), corresponding to the same q, satisfying the assumptions in the statement, and let  $w \coloneqq u_1 - u_2$ . Then w solves the equation

$$-w''(x,t) + \partial_s W(x,u_1(x,t)) - \partial_s W(x,u_2(x,t)) = -z_{\dot{w}(t)}(x)$$
(4.37)

with w(x,0) = 0, w(0,t) = w'(L,t) = 0. Multiplying (4.37) by  $z_{w(t)}$  and integrating in (0,L) we obtain that for a.e.  $t \in (0,T)$ 

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| z_{w(t)} \right\|_{L^{2}(0,L)}^{2} = \int_{0}^{L} z_{\dot{w}(t)}(x) z_{w(t)}(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \\
= -\int_{0}^{L} \left[ -w''(x,t) + \partial_{s} W(x, u_{1}(x,t)) - \partial_{s} W(x, u_{2}(x,t)) \right] z_{w(t)}(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \tag{4.38} \\
\leqslant \int_{0}^{L} w(x,t) z_{w(t)}''(x) \,\mathrm{d}x + \left\| z_{w(t)} \right\|_{L^{2}(0,L)} \left\| \partial_{s} W(\cdot, u_{1}(\cdot,t)) - \partial_{s} W(\cdot, u_{2}(\cdot,t)) \right\|_{L^{2}(0,L)},$$

where the first equality is a consequence of Lemma A.3 and of [34, Theorem 8.60], and we integrated by parts twice in the last passage. Observe now that, using the smoothness (2.1a) of the potential W and the fact that  $u_i \in L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{\infty}(0,L))$ , i = 1,2 (see Remark 2.3), we can find a constant C > 0, independent of  $t \in [0,T]$ , such that

$$\|\partial_s W(\cdot, u_1(\cdot, t)) - \partial_s W(\cdot, u_2(\cdot, t))\|_{L^2(0,L)} \leq C \|w(t)\|_{L^2(0,L)}.$$
(4.39)

Inserting (4.39) in (4.38), and recalling (2.12), we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| z_{w(t)} \right\|_{L^{2}(0,L)}^{2} \leqslant -2 \left\| w(t) \right\|_{L^{2}(0,L)}^{2} + 2C \left\| z_{w(t)} \right\|_{L^{2}(0,L)} \left\| w(t) \right\|_{L^{2}(0,L)} \\ \leqslant - \left\| w(t) \right\|_{L^{2}(0,L)}^{2} + C^{2} \left\| z_{w(t)} \right\|_{L^{2}(0,L)}^{2},$$

where we used Young's inequality in the second passage. Since w(t) (and therefore  $z_{w(t)}$ ) vanishes for t = 0, by Grönwall's Lemma we conclude that  $z_{w(t)} = 0$  and, in turn, w(t) = 0 for all  $t \in [0, T]$ .

#### 5. PROOF OF THEOREM 2.4

In this section we give the main argument for the proof of Theorem 2.4. We divide the proof into three parts: in the first, we show the existence of a weak solution by means of a fixed point argument, and the uniqueness of such solution; subsequently we prove the energy equality (2.8), and finally we show the continuous dependence on initial data and the estimate (2.9).

5.1. Fixed point argument. Let  $u_0 \in V$  be a given initial datum. Thanks to the results in the previous section, we can define a map  $S: L^2(0,T;V) \to L^2(0,T;V)$  as  $S(q) \coloneqq u_q$  for every  $q \in L^2(0,T;V)$ , where  $u_q$  is the unique variational solution to (4.1) with initial datum  $u_0$  constructed in Proposition 4.4. Notice that the uniqueness of the variational solution is a consequence of Proposition 4.6, hence the map S is well defined. We now prove the existence of a weak solution to (2.2) by showing that the map S has a fixed point.

Step 1: continuity and compactness of S. Let  $q_n \to q$  in  $L^2(0,T;V)$ . The estimates proved in Lemma 4.3 on  $u_{\tau}^{(n)}$  and on  $\tilde{u}_{\tau}^{(n)}$  (where the superscript (n) indicates that these functions

are the piecewise affine and piecewise constant interpolants corresponding to  $q_n$ , respectively) are uniform in n, since they depend on n only through the  $L^2(0,T;V)$  norm of  $q_n$ . Hence, passing to the limit as  $\tau \to 0$  as in Proposition 4.4, we obtain that the sequence  $(S(q_n))_n$  is uniformly bounded in  $L^2(0,T;H^3(0,L)) \cap H^1(0,T;V')$ , and converges weakly to S(q) in the same spaces.

By Aubin-Lions-Simon Theorem (see [34, Theorem 8.62]),  $L^2(0,T; H^3(0,L)) \cap H^1(0,T;V')$ is compactly imbedded in  $L^2(0,T; H^2(0,L))$ , so that  $S(q_n) \to S(q)$  strongly in  $L^2(0,T;V)$ . This proves the continuity of the map S in  $L^2(0,T;V)$ .

Similarly, if  $(q_n)_n$  is a bounded sequence in  $L^2(0,T;V)$ , we can repeat the previous argument to deduce that  $(S(q_n))_n$  is uniformly bounded in  $L^2(0,T;H^3(0,L)) \cap H^1(0,T;V')$ . In turn, as before the compact embedding given by Aubin Theorem yields that a subsequence of  $S(q_n)$  converges strongly in  $L^2(0,T;V)$ , thus proving the compactness of the map S.

Step 2: fixed point. In order to apply Shaefer's Fixed Point Theorem to the map S, we still need to check that the set

$$\Lambda \coloneqq \left\{ q \in L^2(0,T;V) : q = \lambda S(q) \text{ for some } 0 \leqslant \lambda \leqslant 1 \right\}$$

is bounded in  $L^2(0,T;V)$ . Let  $q \in \Lambda$ ; by using the identity  $u_q = q/\lambda$  in equation (4.31) solved by  $u_q$  we obtain

$$-q''(t) + \lambda \,\partial_s W(\cdot, \frac{1}{\lambda}q(\cdot, t)) = -z_{\dot{q}(t) + \beta\lambda q'(t)} \,. \tag{5.1}$$

Multiplying (5.1) by q, and integrating in (0, L), we have

$$\int_{0}^{L} |q'(x,t)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + \lambda \int_{0}^{L} \partial_{s} W(x, \frac{1}{\lambda}q(x,t))q(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}x = -\int_{0}^{L} z_{\dot{q}(t)+\beta\lambda q'(t)}(x)q(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$
(5.2)

Notice that we integrated by parts in the first term, with the boundary terms vanishing as q(0,t) = 0,  $q'(L,T) = \lambda u'_q(L,t) = 0$ . Using the equality  $-z''_{q(t)} = q(t)$ , we can integrate by parts also the right-hand side of (5.2), and we obtain

$$-\int_{0}^{L} z_{\dot{q}(t)+\beta\lambda q'(t)}(x)q(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}x = \int_{0}^{L} z_{\dot{q}(t)+\beta\lambda q'(t)}(x)z_{q(t)}''(x) \,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$= -\int_{0}^{L} z_{\dot{q}(t)+\beta\lambda q'(t)}'(x)z_{q(t)}'(x) \,\mathrm{d}x = -\int_{0}^{L} z_{\dot{q}(t)}'(x)z_{q(t)}'(x) \,\mathrm{d}x - \beta\lambda\int_{0}^{L} q'(x,t)z_{q(t)}(x) \,\mathrm{d}x,$$

which inserted in (5.2) yields the equality

$$\int_{0}^{L} z'_{\dot{q}(t)}(x) z'_{q(t)}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{0}^{L} |q'(x,t)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = -\lambda \int_{0}^{L} \partial_s W(x, \frac{1}{\lambda}q(x,t))q(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x - \beta \lambda \int_{0}^{L} q'(x,t)z_{q(t)}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
(5.3)

Notice that, since  $q = \lambda u_q$ , we have in particular  $q \in H^1(0,T;V')$ . Therefore by Lemma A.3 the first integral on the left-hand side of (5.3) can be written as  $\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_0^L |z'_{q(t)}(x)|^2 dx$ . Moreover, recalling (2.1b) we have the estimate

$$-\lambda \int_{0}^{L} \partial_{s} W(x, \frac{1}{\lambda}q(x, t))q(x, t) \, \mathrm{d}x \leqslant \lambda^{2} (K_{0} + K_{1})L \leqslant (K_{0} + K_{1})L, \qquad (5.4)$$

while by Young and Poincaré inequalities

$$-\beta\lambda \int_{0}^{L} q'(x,t) z_{q(t)}(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \leqslant \frac{1}{2} \left\| q(t) \right\|_{V}^{2} + \frac{\beta^{2} L^{2}}{2} \left\| z_{q(t)} \right\|_{V}^{2}.$$
(5.5)

Hence, inserting (5.4) and (5.5) in (5.3) we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| z_{q(t)} \right\|_{V}^{2} + \left\| q(t) \right\|_{V}^{2} \leq 2(K_{0} + K_{1})L + \beta^{2}L^{2} \left\| z_{q(t)} \right\|_{V}^{2}.$$
(5.6)

Grönwall's Lemma then yields

$$\left\|z_{q(t)}\right\|_{V}^{2} \leqslant \left(\left\|z_{q(0)}\right\|_{V}^{2} + \frac{2(K_{0} + K_{1})}{\beta^{2}L}\right) e^{\beta^{2}L^{2}T} \leqslant \overline{C} \qquad \text{for every } t \in [0, T],$$
(5.7)

where the constant  $\overline{C}$  on the right-hand side is independent of  $q \in \Lambda$ , as  $q(0) = \lambda u_q(0) = \lambda u_0$ . Integrating (5.6) in [0,T] and using (5.7) we deduce the estimate

$$\left\|z_{q(T)}\right\|_{V}^{2} - \left\|z_{q(0)}\right\|_{V}^{2} + \left\|q\right\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2} \leq 2(K_{0} + K_{1})LT + \beta^{2}L^{2}\overline{C}T$$

from which we finally get that  $||q||_{L^2(0,T;V)}$  is uniformly bounded for  $q \in \Lambda$ . Hence the set  $\Lambda$  is bounded, as claimed.

We can then invoke Shaefer's Fixed Point Theorem to obtain the existence of an element  $q \in L^2(0,T;V)$  such that  $q = S(q) = u_q$ . By construction,  $u_q$  belongs to the space  $L^2(0,T;H^3(0,L)) \cap H^1(0,T;V')$ , solves equation (4.31), that is

$$-u''_{q}(x,t) + \partial_{s}W(x,u_{q}(x,t)) = -z_{\dot{u}_{q}(t)}(x) - \beta z_{u'_{q}(t)}(x)$$

for almost every  $(x,t) \in (0,L) \times (0,T)$ , and attains the boundary and initial conditions  $u_q(0,t) = u'_q(L,t) = 0$ ,  $u_q(x,0) = u_0(x)$ . The associated function  $\mu = -u''_q + \partial_s W(x,u_q)$  satisfies the identity

$$\mu(t) = -z_{\dot{u}_q(t)} - \beta z_{u'_q(t)},$$

and since by Lemma A.2 the maps  $t \mapsto z_{\dot{u}_q(t)}$ ,  $t \mapsto z_{u'_q(t)}$  belong to  $L^2(0,T;V)$ , we also have  $\mu \in L^2(0,T;V)$ . Therefore, in view of Proposition 2.5, all the conditions in Definition 2.1 are satisfied and  $u_q$  is a weak solution to the problem (2.2) in [0,T] corresponding to the initial datum  $u_0$ .

Step 3: uniqueness. Let  $u_1, u_2$  be two weak solutions to (2.2), corresponding to the same initial datum, satisfying the assumptions in the statement, and let  $w \coloneqq u_1 - u_2$ . Then w solves the equation

$$-w''(x,t) + \partial_s W(x,u_1(x,t)) - \partial_s W(x,u_2(x,t)) = -z_{\dot{w}(t)}(x) - \beta z_{w'(t)}(x)$$
(5.8)

with w(x,0) = 0, w(0,t) = w'(L,t) = 0. Multiplying (5.8) by w(t) and integrating the equation in (0,L) we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{L} |w'(x,t)|^{2} dx + \int_{0}^{L} \left[ \partial_{s} W(x,u_{1}(x,t)) - \partial_{s} W(x,u_{2}(x,t)) \right] w(x,t) dx$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{L} \left( z_{\dot{w}(t)}(x) + \beta z_{w'(t)}(x) \right) w(x,t) dx = \int_{0}^{L} \left( z_{\dot{w}(t)}(x) + \beta z_{w'(t)}(x) \right) z_{w(t)}''(x) dx$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{L} z_{\dot{w}(t)}'(x) z_{w(t)}'(x) dx - \beta \int_{0}^{L} z_{w(t)}(x) w'(x,t) dx$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \left\| z_{w(t)} \right\|_{V}^{2} - \beta \int_{0}^{L} z_{w(t)}(x) w'(x,t) dx,$$
(5.9)

where we repeatedly integrated by parts and we used Lemma A.3 in the last passage, as  $w \in H^1(0,T;V')$ . By the regularity (2.1a) of the potential W, and observing that

$$\sup_{t \in (0,T)} \|u_i(t)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,L)} < \infty, \qquad i = 1,2$$

by the condition  $u_i \in L^{\infty}(0,T;V)$ , we can find a constant C > 0, independent of  $t \in [0,T]$ and  $x \in [0,L]$ , such that

$$\left|\partial_s W(x, u_1(x, t)) - \partial_s W(x, u_2(x, t))\right| \leqslant C |w(x, t)|.$$

This estimates gives in turn

$$\left| \int_{0}^{L} \left[ \partial_{s} W(x, u_{1}(x, t)) - \partial_{s} W(x, u_{2}(x, t)) \right] w(x, t) \, \mathrm{d}x \right| \leq C \int_{0}^{L} |w(x, t)|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \\ \leq C \|w(t)\|_{V'} \|w(t)\|_{V}.$$
(5.10)

Hence, by combining (5.9) and (5.10) we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| z_{w(t)} \right\|_{V}^{2} \leqslant - \left\| w(t) \right\|_{V}^{2} + \beta \left\| z_{w(t)} \right\|_{L^{2}(0,L)} \left\| w(t) \right\|_{V} + C \left\| w(t) \right\|_{V'} \left\| w(t) \right\|_{V} 
\stackrel{(2.10)}{\leqslant} - \left\| w(t) \right\|_{V}^{2} + C \left\| z_{w(t)} \right\|_{V} \left\| w(t) \right\|_{V} 
\leqslant -\frac{1}{2} \left\| w(t) \right\|_{V}^{2} + C \left\| z_{w(t)} \right\|_{V}^{2},$$

where we used Young's inequality in the last line. Since w(t) vanishes for t = 0, by Grönwall's Lemma we conclude that  $z_{w(t)} \equiv 0$  and, in turn, that  $w(t) \equiv 0$  for all t. This concludes the proof of uniqueness of the weak solution.

5.2. Energy equality. We now turn to the proof of the energy equality (2.8). By taking  $\psi = \mu(t)$  as test function in the weak formulation (2.5) (which is admissible since  $\mu(t) \in V$  for almost every  $t \in (0,T)$ ), we find

$$\langle \dot{u}(t), \mu(t) \rangle_{V',V} = -\|\mu(t)\|_V^2 - \beta \int_0^L u'(x,t)\mu(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}x \,.$$

To conclude, we only need to show that for almost every  $t \in (0,T)$ 

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathcal{E}(u(t)) = \langle \dot{u}(t), \mu(t) \rangle_{V',V} .$$
(5.11)

Given h > 0 and  $\lambda \in (0,1)$ , defining  $u_h^{\lambda}(x,t) \coloneqq \lambda u(x,t) + (1-\lambda)u(x,t-h)$ , we start by considering the increment of the energy from t-h to t:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}(u(t)) - \mathcal{E}(u(t-h)) &= \frac{1}{2} \int_0^L |u'(x,t)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^L W(x,u(x,t)) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^L |u'(x,t-h)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_0^L W(x,u(x,t-h)) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_0^L \left( u'(x,t) - u'(x,t-h) \right) \left( u'(x,t) + u'(x,t-h) \right) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\quad + \int_0^L \left( \int_0^1 \partial_s W(x,u_h^\lambda(x,t)) \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \right) \left( u(x,t) - u(x,t-h) \right) \, \mathrm{d}x, \end{aligned}$$

which, by adding and subtracting u'(x,t) in the first integral and  $\partial_s W(x,u(x,t))$  in the second, becomes

$$\leq \int_{0}^{L} (u'(x,t) - u'(x,t-h)) u'(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ + \int_{0}^{L} \partial_{s} W(x,u(x,t)) (u(x,t) - u(x,t-h)) \, \mathrm{d}x + R_{h}^{(1)}(t),$$

where  $R_h^{(1)}(t) \coloneqq \int_0^L \left[ \int_0^1 \left( \partial_s W(x, u_h^{\lambda}(x, t)) - \partial_s W(x, u(x, t)) \right) \mathrm{d}\lambda \right] \left( u(x, t) - u(x, t - h) \right) \mathrm{d}x$ . Integrating by parts in the first integral then yields

$$= \int_0^L \left( u(x,t) - u(x,t-h) \right) \left( -u''(x,t) + \partial_s W(x,u(x,t)) \right) dx + R_h^{(1)}(t)$$
  
=  $\langle u(t) - u(t-h), \mu(t) \rangle_{V',V} + R_h^{(1)}(t),$ 

so that we have

$$\mathcal{E}(u(t)) - \mathcal{E}(u(t-h)) \leqslant \langle u(t) - u(t-h), \mu(t) \rangle_{V',V} + R_h^{(1)}(t).$$
(5.12a)

By adding and subtracting u'(x,t-h) and  $\partial_s W(x,u(x,t-h))$  instead, an analogous computation gives

$$\mathcal{E}(u(t)) - \mathcal{E}(u(t-h)) \ge \langle u(t) - u(t-h), \mu(t-h) \rangle_{V',V} + R_h^{(2)}(t),$$
 (5.12b)

where  $R_h^{(2)}(t) \coloneqq \int_0^L \left[ \int_0^1 \left( \partial_s W(x, u_h^{\lambda}(x, t)) - \partial_s W(x, u(x, t-h)) \right) d\lambda \right] \left( u(x, t) - u(x, t-h) \right) dx$ . We now reproduce an argument similar to [12, Proposition 4.2]. From (5.12) we conclude (5.11) if we prove that, taking the limit  $h \to 0$ ,

$$\frac{1}{h} \int_{h}^{T} \langle u(t) - u(t-h), \mu(t-h) \rangle_{V',V} v(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = \frac{1}{h} \int_{0}^{T-h} \langle u(t+h) - u(t), \mu(t) \rangle_{V',V} v(t+h) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ \to \int_{0}^{T} \langle \dot{u}(t), \mu(t) \rangle_{V',V} v(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \,, \tag{5.13a}$$

$$\frac{1}{h} \int_{h}^{T} \langle u(t) - u(t-h), \mu(t) \rangle_{V',V} v(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \to \int_{0}^{T} \langle \dot{u}(t), \mu(t) \rangle_{V',V} v(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \,, \tag{5.13b}$$

$$\frac{1}{h} \int_{h}^{T} \left( \mathcal{E}(u(t)) - \mathcal{E}(u(t-h)) \right) v(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = \frac{1}{h} \int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{E}(u(t)) \left( v(t) - v(t+h) \right) \, \mathrm{d}t$$
$$\rightarrow -\int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{E}(u(t)) \dot{v}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \,, \tag{5.13c}$$

$$\frac{1}{h} \int_{h}^{T} R_{h}^{(i)}(t)v(t) \,\mathrm{d}t \to 0, \qquad i = 1, 2,$$
(5.13d)

where  $v \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  is any nonnegative Lipschitz function such that  $\operatorname{supp} v \subset [h, T - h]$ . To prove the first convergence (5.13a), we observe that by [6, Chapter 1, Theorem 3.2]

$$\frac{u(t+h)-u(t)}{h} \to \dot{u}(t) \qquad \text{in } V', \text{ for a.e. } t \in (0,T),$$
(5.14)

and therefore

$$\frac{1}{h} \left\langle u(t+h) - u(t), \mu(t) \right\rangle_{V',V} v(t+h) \chi_{(0,T-h)}(t) \to \left\langle \dot{u}(t), \mu(t) \right\rangle_{V',V} v(t)$$

almost everywhere in (0,T). Furthermore, for every measurable  $A \subset [0,T]$  we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{A} \left| \frac{1}{h} \langle u(t+h) - u(t), \mu(t) \rangle_{V',V} \, v(t+h) \chi_{(0,T-h)}(t) \right| \mathrm{d}t \\ & \leq \|v\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T)} \bigg( \int_{0}^{T-h} \frac{1}{h^{2}} \|u(t+h) - u(t)\|_{V'}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bigg( \int_{A} \|\mu(t)\|_{V}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \leq C \|\mu\|_{L^{2}(A;V)} \,, \end{split}$$

where the integral of the difference quotient of u is uniformly bounded by [6, Chapter 1, Theorem 3.3]. The previous estimate implies equi-integrability and therefore convergence (5.13a) follows by Vitali's Convergence Theorem. The proof of (5.13b) is analogous. For (5.13c) we only need that  $\mathcal{E}(u(t)) \in L^1(0,T)$ ; in turn, this follows easily from the condition  $u \in C([0,T];V)$ , see Remark 2.3. Finally, to show (5.13d), we first observe that by the regularity (2.1a) of the potential W and the uniform bound

$$\sup_{t \in (0,T)} \|u(t)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,L)} < \infty$$

(which follows also from Remark 2.3), we can find a constant C > 0, independent of  $t \in [h,T]$  and  $x \in [0,L]$ , such that

$$\left|\partial_s W(x, u_h^{\lambda}(x, t)) - \partial_s W(x, u(x, t))\right| \leq C(1 - \lambda) |u(x, t) - u(x, t - h)|.$$

Therefore we can estimate

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{h} \int_{h}^{T} R_{h}^{(1)}(t) v(t) \, \mathrm{d}t &\leq \frac{C}{h} \|v\|_{\infty} \int_{h}^{T} \int_{0}^{L} |u(x,t) - u(x,t-h)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq C \|v\|_{\infty} \bigg( \int_{h}^{T} \bigg\| \frac{u(t) - u(t-h)}{h} \bigg\|_{V'}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bigg( \int_{h}^{T} \|u(t) - u(t-h)\|_{V}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

The first integral on the right-hand side is uniformly bounded, in view of [6, Chapter 1, Theorem 3.3]; furthermore, as u is continuous as a map from [0,T] with values in V (by Remark 2.3), the second integral tends to zero as  $h \to 0$ . This proves (5.13d).

In view of (5.12), the convergences in (5.13) imply that

$$-\int_0^T \mathcal{E}(u(t))\dot{v}(t)\,\mathrm{d}t = \int_0^T \left\langle \dot{u}(t), \mu(t) \right\rangle_{V',V} v(t)\,\mathrm{d}t$$

for every nonnegative  $v \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  with compact support in (0,T); since both the positive and negative parts of a Lipschitz function are Lipschitz continuous, we obtain (5.11).

**Remark 5.1** (Improved estimates). We now show how to obtain uniform bounds in the space V for every weak solution u(t), depending on the  $H^1$ -norm of the corresponding initial datum  $u_0$ . We can estimate the right-hand side of the energy equality (2.8) by means of Poincaré and Young inequalities, to obtain that

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \mathcal{E}(u(t)) + \|\mu(t)\|_{V}^{2} &= -\beta \int_{0}^{L} u'(x,t)\mu(x,t)\,\mathrm{d}x \leqslant \beta L \,\|u(t)\|_{V} \,\|\mu(t)\|_{V} \\ &\leqslant \frac{\beta^{2}L^{2}}{2} \,\|u(t)\|_{V}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \,\|\mu(t)\|_{V}^{2} \\ &= \beta^{2}L^{2}\mathcal{E}(u(t)) - \beta^{2}L^{2} \int_{0}^{L} W(x,u(x,t))\,\mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{2} \,\|\mu(t)\|_{V}^{2} \,, \end{split}$$

that is, in view of (2.1b),

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathcal{E}(u(t)) + \frac{1}{2}\|\mu(t)\|_V^2 \leqslant \beta^2 L^2 \mathcal{E}(u(t)) + \beta^2 L^3 K_0.$$

Hence Grönwall's Lemma yields for all  $t \in [0, T]$ 

$$\mathcal{E}(u(t)) \leqslant \left(\mathcal{E}(u_0) + LK_0\right) e^{\beta^2 L^2 T} - LK_0.$$

In particular, using (2.1b) once more, we conclude that

$$\|u(t)\|_{V}^{2} \leq 2(\mathcal{E}(u_{0}) + LK_{0})e^{\beta^{2}L^{2}T}.$$
(5.15)

5.3. Continuous dependence on initial data. We conclude the proof of Theorem 2.4 by showing that estimate (2.9) holds. We fix two initial data  $u_0, \bar{u}_0 \in V$  with  $||u_0||_V, ||\bar{u}_0||_V \leq M$ , where M is a fixed constant, and consider the difference  $w(t) \coloneqq u(t) - \bar{u}(t)$  of the corresponding weak solutions. We first observe that, denoting by  $\mu$  and  $\bar{\mu}$  the functions associated to u and  $\bar{u}$  according to (2.4), respectively, and by  $\mu_w \coloneqq \mu - \bar{\mu}$  their difference, we have that

$$-w''(x,t) = \mu_w(x,t) - \partial_s W(x,u(x,t)) + \partial_s W(x,\bar{u}(x,t)),$$
(5.16)

and, since by the properties of weak solutions all the functions u(t),  $\bar{u}(t)$ ,  $\mu(t)$ ,  $\bar{\mu}(t)$  belong to the space V, it is easily seen that the right-hand side of (5.16) vanishes at x = 0. By the regularity properties of weak solutions, this implies that  $w''(t) \in V$  and is therefore an admissible test function in the weak equation (2.5). As both functions u and  $\bar{u}$  satisfy (2.5), by subtracting the two resulting equations tested with -w''(t) we have

$$-\langle \dot{w}(t), w''(t) \rangle_{V',V} = (\mu_w(t), w''(t))_V + \beta \int_0^L w'(x,t) w''(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}x \,. \tag{5.17}$$

By introducing for notational convenience the function

$$\nu(x,t) \coloneqq \partial_s W(x,u(x,t)) - \partial_s W(x,\bar{u}(x,t)),$$

equation (5.17) gives

$$- \langle \dot{w}(t), w''(t) \rangle_{V',V} = - \|\mu_w(t)\|_V^2 + (\mu_w(t), \nu(t))_V - \beta \int_0^L w' \mu_w \, \mathrm{d}x + \beta \int_0^L w' \nu \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\leq - \|\mu_w(t)\|_V^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|\mu_w(t)\|_V^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|\nu(t)\|_V^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|\mu_w(t)\|_V^2$$

$$+ \frac{\beta^2 L^2}{2} \|w(t)\|_V^2 + \beta \|w(t)\|_V \|\nu(t)\|_{L^2(0,L)}.$$
(5.18)

The left-hand side of (5.18) is

$$-\langle \dot{w}(t), w''(t) \rangle_{V',V} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|w(t)\|_{V}^{2} , \qquad (5.19)$$

which can be proved in the same way as (5.11), using convergence (5.14) to obtain the limit of the incremental quotients. We now estimate the terms on the right-hand side of (5.18) containing the function  $\nu(t)$ . Notice first that, as  $u, \bar{u} \in L^{\infty}(0,T;V)$ , we can bound

$$|\nu(x,t)| = \left|\partial_s W(x,u(x,t)) - \partial_s W(x,\bar{u}(x,t))\right| \le C|w(x,t)|,\tag{5.20}$$

and similarly

$$\begin{aligned} |\nu'(x,t)| &\leq \left| \partial_{sx}^2 W(x,u(x,t)) - \partial_{sx}^2 W(x,\bar{u}(x,t)) \right| \\ &+ \left| \partial_{ss}^2 W(x,u(x,t)) \right| |u'(x,t) - \bar{u}'(x,t)| \\ &+ \left| \partial_{ss}^2 W(x,u(x,t)) - \partial_{ss}^2 W(x,\bar{u}(x,t)) \right| |\bar{u}'(x,t)| \\ &\leq C |w(x,t)| + C |w'(x,t)| + C |w(x,t)| |\bar{u}'(x,t)|. \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.21)$$

The constant C appearing in (5.20) and (5.21) is bounded by the  $C^3$ -norm of the potential W on the compact set

$$[0, L] \times \Big\{ s \in \mathbb{R} : |s| \leqslant \sup_{t \in (0, T)} \max \left\{ \|u(t)\|_{L^{\infty}(0, L)}, \|\bar{u}(t)\|_{L^{\infty}(0, L)} \right\} \Big\},$$

and therefore, in view of estimate (5.15), depends ultimately only on the fixed parameters of the problem (L,  $\beta$ , T, W) and on the energy of the initial data  $\mathcal{E}(u_0)$ ,  $\mathcal{E}(\bar{u}_0)$ , which is in turn bounded uniformly by the constant M.

Then for the  $L^2$ -norm of  $\nu(t)$  we have, by (5.20),

$$\|\nu(t)\|_{L^{2}(0,L)} \leq C \|w(t)\|_{L^{2}(0,L)}, \qquad (5.22)$$

while for the norm of  $\nu(t)$  in V we have, by (5.21),

$$\|\nu(t)\|_{V} \leq C \|w(t)\|_{L^{2}(0,L)} + C \|w(t)\|_{V} + C \|w(t)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,L)} \|\bar{u}(t)\|_{V} \leq C \|w(t)\|_{V}$$
(5.23)

(where the norm of  $\bar{u}(t)$  in V can be bounded using (5.15) by a constant with the same properties as before). By inserting (5.19), (5.22), and (5.23) into (5.18) we end up with

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|w(t)\|_{V}^{2} \leqslant \frac{1}{2}\|\nu(t)\|_{V}^{2} + \frac{\beta^{2}L^{2}}{2}\|w(t)\|_{V}^{2} + \beta\|w(t)\|_{V}\|\nu(t)\|_{L^{2}(0,L)} \leqslant C\|w(t)\|_{V}^{2}$$

and Grönwall's Lemma yields

$$||w(t)||_V^2 \leqslant ||w(0)||_V^2 e^{CT}.$$

As observed before, the constant C appearing in the previous estimate depends only on L,  $\beta$ , T, W, and on the uniform bound M on the V-norm of  $u_0$  and  $\bar{u}_0$ . This remark completes the proof of the continuous dependence of the solution on the initial datum.

### 6. The case $\beta$ small

In this section, we first show in Theorem 6.5 the existence of a global attractor for weak solutions u to (2.2). In Theorem 6.6 we prove that, as  $\beta \to 0$ , solutions to (2.2) converge to that of a Cahn-Hilliard-type equation, with a quantitative estimate of the convergence rate in terms of  $\beta$ .

6.1. **Preliminary results on global attractors.** We first recall for the reader's convenience some basic notation and results from the classical theory of attractors for semigroups (see [26, 32]). In what follows, let (X, d) be a complete metric space.

**Definition 6.1** (Semigroup). A family  $\mathscr{G} = \{g_t : t \in [0,\infty)\}$  of maps  $g_t : X \to X$  is a (continuous) *semigroup* if the following conditions are satisfied:

- (sg1)  $g_{t_1}(g_{t_2}(x)) = g_{t_1+t_2}(x)$  for all  $t_1, t_2 \ge 0$  and  $x \in X$ ;
- (sg2)  $g_0(x) = x$  for all  $x \in X$ ;
- (sg3) the mapping  $(t, x) \mapsto g_t(x)$  from  $[0, \infty) \times X \to X$  is continuous.

The following definition gathers some basic properties of semigroups.

**Definition 6.2** (Properties of semigroups). Let  $\mathscr{G} = \{g_t : t \in [0, \infty)\}$  be a semigroup.  $\mathscr{G}$  is *bounded* if the set

$$\bigcup_{x\in B} \left\{ g_t(x) \, : \, t \ge 0 \right\}$$

is bounded for every bounded set  $B \subset X$ .

 $\mathscr{G}$  is *point dissipative* if there exists a bounded set  $B_0 \subset X$  which attracts each point of the space, i.e., for every  $x \in X$  there holds  $g_t(x) \in B_0$  for every  $t \ge t_x$ , for some  $t_x \ge 0$ .

 $\mathscr{G}$  is compact if for every t > 0 the operator  $g_t$  is compact, i.e., for every bounded set  $B \subset X$  its image  $g_t(B)$  is precompact.

A set  $E \subset X$  is *invariant* for the semigroup  $\mathscr{G}$  if  $g_t(E) = E$  for all t > 0. The  $\omega$ -limit of a set  $E \subset X$  is defined as the set

$$\omega(E) \coloneqq \{ w \in X : \exists \{ x_k \} \subset E \text{ and } t_k \to \infty \text{ with } g_{t_k}(x_k) \to w \}.$$

We finally recall the notion of global attractor.

**Definition 6.3** (Global attractor). A set  $\mathscr{A} \subset X$  is the *global attractor* for a semigroup  $\mathscr{G}$  if it is the minimal closed set which attracts all bounded subsets of X, namely for every bounded  $B \subset X$  there holds  $\operatorname{dist}(g_t(B); \mathscr{A}) \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ .

The following classical result provides a criterion for the existence of a global attractor (see for instance [32]).

**Theorem 6.4** (Existence of the global attractor). Suppose that the semigroup  $\mathscr{G}$  is bounded, point dissipative, and compact. Then  $\mathscr{G}$  has a global attractor  $\mathscr{A}$ , which is compact and invariant. The global attractor  $\mathscr{A}$  is unique, and given by the set

 $\mathscr{A}\coloneqq \bigcup\{\omega(B): \text{$B$ is a bounded subset of $X$}\}.$ 

Additionally,  $\mathscr{A}$  is the maximal compact invariant subset of X.

6.2. Existence of the global attractor. We proceed by adapting the formalism introduced in Subsection 6.1 to our setting. Thanks to Theorem 2.4, for  $\beta \ge 0$  the equation (2.2) defines a continuous semigroup  $\mathscr{G}_{\beta}$  on the space V. Indeed, for every initial datum  $u_0 \in V$  we proved in Theorem 2.4 existence and uniqueness of a weak solution in [0,T]starting from  $u_0$ , for every T > 0; by the arbitrariness of T > 0, this provides existence and uniqueness of a continuous map  $u: [0, +\infty) \to V$ ,  $u(0) = u_0$ , satisfying the following properties:

 $\begin{array}{ll} ({\rm sgb1}) & u \in H^1_{\rm loc}(0,+\infty;V') \cap L^2_{\rm loc}(0,+\infty;H^3(0,L))\,;\\ ({\rm sgb2}) & \mu = -u'' + \partial_s W(x,u) \in L^2_{\rm loc}(0,+\infty;V)\,;\\ ({\rm sgb3}) \mbox{ for every } \psi \in V \mbox{ and almost every } t > 0 \mbox{ we have } \end{array}$ 

$$\langle \dot{u}(t),\psi\rangle_{V',V} = -(\mu(t),\psi)_V - \beta \int_0^L u'(x,t)\psi(x)\,\mathrm{d}x;$$

(sgb4) for almost every t > 0, u satisfies the boundary conditions u(0,t) = 0, u'(L,t) = 0.

Then it is easily seen that the family  $\mathscr{G}_{\beta} = \{g_t : t \in [0, \infty)\}$ , where, for every  $u_0 \in V$  and  $t \ge 0$ ,  $g_t(u_0)$  is the value u(t) of the unique weak solution starting from  $u_0$ , is a continuous semigroup. In particular, condition (sg3) in Definition 6.1 is a direct consequence of (2.9).

We are now in a position to prove the existence of a global attractor.

**Theorem 6.5.** For every  $\beta < L^{-3}$ , the semigroup  $\mathscr{G}_{\beta}$  has a global attractor.

*Proof.* The proof consists in showing that for  $\beta$  small enough the semigroup  $\mathscr{G}_{\beta}$  satisfies the conditions of Theorem 6.4 characterizing the existence of a global attractor. For convenience of the reader, we subdivide the proof into two steps.

Step 1:  $\mathscr{G}_{\beta}$  is bounded and point dissipative. Let  $u_0 \in V$ , let u be the weak solution to (2.2) with initial datum  $u_0$  provided by Theorem 2.4, and fix  $t \in [0, +\infty)$ . We first observe that, by (2.1b) and using Young's and Poincaré's inequalities, we can estimate

$$\mathcal{E}(u(t)) \leqslant -\int_{0}^{L} u''(x,t)u(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{0}^{L} \partial_{s}W(x,u(x,t))u(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}x + K_{1}L - \frac{1}{2} \|u(t)\|_{V}^{2}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{L} \mu(x,t)u(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}x + K_{1}L - \frac{1}{2} \|u(t)\|_{V}^{2}$$

$$\leqslant L^{2} \|\mu(t)\|_{V} \|u(t)\|_{V} + K_{1}L - \frac{1}{2} \|u(t)\|_{V}^{2} \leqslant \frac{L^{4}}{2} \|\mu(t)\|_{V}^{2} + K_{1}L.$$
(6.1)

By plugging this estimate into the energy equality (2.8) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathcal{E}(u(t)) &+ \frac{1}{L^4}\mathcal{E}(u(t)) + \frac{1}{2} \|\mu(t)\|_V^2 \stackrel{\text{(6.1)}}{\leqslant} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathcal{E}(u(t)) + \|\mu(t)\|_V^2 + \frac{K_1}{L^3} \\ \stackrel{(2.8)}{=} &-\beta \int_0^L u'(x,t)\mu(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}x + \frac{K_1}{L^3} \\ &\leqslant \frac{\beta^2 L^2}{2} \|u(t)\|_V^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|\mu(t)\|_V^2 + \frac{K_1}{L^3} \\ &\stackrel{(2.1b)}{\leqslant} \beta^2 L^2 \mathcal{E}(u(t)) + \frac{1}{2} \|\mu(t)\|_V^2 + \frac{K_1}{L^3} + \beta^2 L^3 K_0 \,\mathrm{d}x \end{split}$$

which yields

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathcal{E}(u(t)) \leqslant -C_{\beta}\mathcal{E}(u(t)) + D_{\beta},$$

with the positions

$$C_{\beta} \coloneqq \frac{1}{L^4} - \beta^2 L^2$$
 and  $D_{\beta} \coloneqq \frac{K_1}{L^3} + \beta^2 L^3 K_0.$ 

Notice that  $C_{\beta} > 0$  for  $\beta < \frac{1}{L^3}$ ; therefore Grönwall's inequality implies

$$\mathcal{E}(u(t)) \leqslant \left(\mathcal{E}(u_0) - \frac{D_{\beta}}{C_{\beta}}\right) e^{-C_{\beta}t} + \frac{D_{\beta}}{C_{\beta}},\tag{6.2}$$

for every  $t \in [0, +\infty)$ . The fact that  $\mathscr{G}_{\beta}$  is point dissipative and bounded follows then by (6.2) and (2.7).

Step 2:  $\mathscr{G}_{\beta}$  is compact. Let  $B \subset V$  be a bounded set of initial data, and consider the family  $S := \{u(\cdot) : u(0) \in B\}$  of the weak solutions starting from a point in B. We first remark that the set S is bounded in  $L^2(0,T; H^3(0,L)) \cap H^1(0,T;V')$ , for every T > 0. This follows from the construction of the weak solution that was performed in Sections 4 and 5: indeed, every weak solution u fulfills by construction estimates (4.26)–(4.27), that is,

$$\|u\|_{L^2(0,T;H^3(0,L))} + \|\dot{u}\|_{L^2(0,T;V')} \leq M$$

where M depends on  $\beta$ , L, T, W,  $\mathcal{E}(u(0))$ , and  $||u||_{L^2(0,T;V)}$ . As these quantities are uniformly bounded with respect to  $u \in S$  thanks to the assumption that  $||u(0)||_V$  are uniformly bounded (recall also (5.15)), we can conclude that the set S is bounded in  $L^2(0,T;H^3(0,L)) \cap H^1(0,T;V')$ , for every T > 0.

By Aubin-Lions-Simon Theorem (see [34, Theorem 8.62]), for every T > 0 the space  $L^2(0,T;H^3(0,L)) \cap H^1(0,T;V')$  is compactly embedded in  $L^2(0,T;H^2(0,L))$ , and therefore by a diagonal argument we can extract a subsequence  $\{u_j\}_j \subset S$  such that

$$u_i \to u$$
 in  $L^2(0,T; H^2(0,L))$ , for all  $T > 0$ ,

as  $j \to \infty$ , for some  $u \in L^2_{loc}(0, \infty; H^2(0, L))$ . In view of Remark 2.3,  $u \in C(0, \infty; V)$ . Up to further subsequences, we can also assume that

$$u_j(t) \to u(t)$$
 in  $H^2(0, L)$ , for a.e.  $t > 0$ . (6.3)

The goal is now to show that the convergence  $u_j(t) \rightarrow u(t)$  in V holds for every t > 0. We first claim that

$$u_i(t) \rightharpoonup u(t)$$
 weakly in V, for every  $t > 0$ . (6.4)

Indeed, for any given T > 0 and for all  $0 \le s \le t \le T$  we have

$$\begin{split} \sup_{j} \|u_{j}(t) - u_{j}(s)\|_{V'}^{2} &\leq \sup_{j} \left( \int_{s}^{t} \|\dot{u}_{j}(\tau)\|_{V'} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \right)^{2} \\ &\leq (t-s) \sup_{j} \int_{s}^{t} \|\dot{u}_{j}(\tau)\|_{V'}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \leq (t-s) \sup_{j} \|u_{j}\|_{H^{1}(0,T;V')}^{2}, \end{split}$$

which shows that the sequence of functions  $\{u_j\}_j$  is uniformly equicontinuous from [0, T] to V'. In addition, by (5.15) the functions  $u_j(t)$  are equibounded in V, and therefore  $\{u_j(t)\}_j$  is relatively compact in V' for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . Hence by Ascoli-Arzelà Theorem we can extract a further subsequence such that

$$u_{i_k}(t) \to v(t)$$
 in V', for every  $t \in [0,T]$ , (6.5)

for some  $v \in C(0,T;V')$ . In view of (6.3) and the fact that  $u \in C(0,\infty;V)$ , we necessarily have u = v and the convergence (6.5) holds for the full sequence  $(u_j)_j$ . Finally, for every t > 0 the sequence  $(u_j(t))_j$  is bounded in V, and therefore by (6.5) it converges weakly in V to u(t). Then the claim (6.4) is proved.

The final step amounts to show that the convergence in (6.4) is actually strong in the space V. To this aim, we introduce the functions  $\mu_j$  and  $\mu$  associated to  $u_j$  and u by (2.4), respectively, and we notice that, by (6.3) and the continuity of  $\partial_s W$ , we have

$$\mu_j(t) \to \mu(t)$$
 in  $L^2(0,L)$ , for a.e.  $t > 0$ . (6.6)

In particular, the convergences (6.3) and (6.6) guarantee that for every t > 0

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_0^t \int_0^L u'_j(x,\tau) \mu_j(x,\tau) \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}\tau = \int_0^t \int_0^L u'(x,\tau) \mu(x,\tau) \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}\tau \,. \tag{6.7}$$

We now let

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}(u(t)) \coloneqq \mathcal{E}(u(t)) + \beta \int_0^t \int_0^L u'(x,\tau)\mu(x,\tau) \,\mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}\tau$$

where  $\mathcal{E}$  is defined in (2.7). By the energy equality (2.8), the map  $t \mapsto \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}(u_j(t))$  is monotone non-increasing for every j. Moreover, by (6.3) and (6.7) there holds  $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}(u_j(t)) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}(u(t))$  for almost every t > 0. Therefore by monotonicity and continuity of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}(u(\cdot))$  we have

 $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}(u_j(t)) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}(u(t))$  for every t > 0.

By using again (6.7) this yields  $\mathcal{E}(u_j(t)) \to \mathcal{E}(u(t))$  for every t > 0 and, in turn,

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \left( \frac{1}{2} \| u_j(t) \|_V^2 - \frac{1}{2} \| u(t) \|_V^2 \right) = \lim_{j \to \infty} \int_0^L \left( W(x, u(x, t)) - W(x, u_j(x, t)) \right) \mathrm{d}x$$
(6.8)

for every t > 0. Since the weak convergence in V implies uniform convergence in [0, L], by continuity of the potential W it is easily seen that the condition (6.4) implies that the limit on the right-hand side of (6.8) is zero for every t > 0, and therefore  $||u_j(t)||_V \rightarrow ||u(t)||_V$  for every t > 0. This information, combined with (6.4), allows us to conclude that  $u_j(t) \rightarrow u(t)$  strongly in V for every t > 0. This concludes the proof of the compactness of  $\mathscr{G}_{\beta}$ .

6.3. **Further characterization of solutions.** In the limit  $\beta \to 0$  we can show that weak solutions to (2.2) are close, in the norm of the space V, to the weak solution of the limit problem with  $\beta = 0$ , corresponding to the same initial datum. More precisely, the following result holds true.

**Theorem 6.6.** Let  $u_0 \in V$  be a fixed initial datum, and let T > 0,  $\beta_0 > 0$  be given. For  $\beta \in (0, \beta_0)$ , we denote by  $u_\beta$  the unique weak solution to (2.2) in [0,T] corresponding to  $u_0$ , constructed in Theorem 2.4. Moreover, we denote by  $\bar{u}$  the unique weak solution with the same initial datum  $u_0$  corresponding to  $\beta = 0$ . Then there exists a constant C > 0 (depending on L, W, T,  $\beta_0$ , and on  $||u_0||_V$ ) such that for all  $\beta \in (0, \beta_0)$  and  $t \in [0, T]$ 

$$\|u_{\beta}(t) - \bar{u}(t)\|_{V} \leqslant C\beta.$$
(6.9)

*Proof.* We proceed similarly to the proof of the continuous dependence of solutions on the initial data, see Subsection 5.3. We first observe that the difference of the two solutions  $w \coloneqq u_{\beta} - \bar{u}$  solves

$$\langle \dot{w}(t), \psi \rangle_{V',V} = -(\mu_w(t), \psi)_V - \beta \int_0^L u'_\beta(x, t)\psi(x) \,\mathrm{d}x$$
 (6.10)

for every test function  $\psi \in V$ , where we denoted by  $\mu_w := \mu_\beta - \bar{\mu}$  the difference of the maps  $\mu_\beta$  and  $\bar{\mu}$  associated to  $u_\beta$  and  $\bar{u}$  according to (2.4), respectively. Notice that

$$-w''(x,t) = \mu_w(x,t) - \nu(x,t), \tag{6.11}$$

where we defined  $\nu(x,t) := \partial_s W(x, u_\beta(x,t)) - \partial_s W(x, \bar{u}(x,t))$ . From (6.11) it is easily seen that  $w''(t) \in V$  and is therefore an admissible test function in the weak equation (6.10):

$$-\langle \dot{w}(t), w''(t) \rangle_{V',V} = (\mu_w(t), w''(t))_V + \beta \int_0^L u'_\beta(x, t) w''(x, t) \,\mathrm{d}x \,. \tag{6.12}$$

By arguing as in (5.18)–(5.19), equation (6.12) gives

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|w(t)\|_{V}^{2} = -\|\mu_{w}(t)\|_{V}^{2} + (\mu_{w}(t), \nu(t))_{V} - \beta \int_{0}^{L} u_{\beta}' \mu_{w} \,\mathrm{d}x + \beta \int_{0}^{L} u_{\beta}' \nu \,\mathrm{d}x \\
\leqslant -\|\mu_{w}(t)\|_{V}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \|\mu_{w}(t)\|_{V}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \|\nu(t)\|_{V}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \|\mu_{w}(t)\|_{V}^{2} \\
+ \frac{\beta^{2} L^{2}}{2} \|u_{\beta}(t)\|_{V}^{2} + \beta \|u_{\beta}(t)\|_{V} \|\nu(t)\|_{L^{2}(0,L)}.$$
(6.13)

Notice now that, thanks to (5.15), we have a uniform estimate

$$\|u_{\beta}(t)\|_{V}^{2} \leqslant C_{1}$$

where  $C_1$  depends ultimately only on L, W, T,  $\beta_0$ , and on  $||u_0||_V$ . In turn, by arguing as in (5.22)–(5.23) the norm of the function  $\nu(t)$  can be bounded as

$$\|\nu(t)\|_{V}^{2} \leq C_{2} \|w(t)\|_{V}^{2}$$

for another constant  $C_2$  depending on the same quantities as  $C_1$ . Therefore (6.13) yields

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|w(t)\|_{V}^{2} \leq \|\nu(t)\|_{V}^{2} + \beta^{2}L^{2}\|u_{\beta}(t)\|_{V}^{2} \leq C_{2}\|w(t)\|_{V}^{2} + \beta^{2}C_{1}L^{2},$$

and, as w(0) = 0, an application of Grönwall's Lemma yields (6.9).

#### APPENDIX A.

We collect here a few results of technical nature which are needed throughout the paper. The following lemma will be instrumental in the proof of Proposition 4.4.

**Lemma A.1.** Let  $q \in L^2(0,T;V)$  and let  $\tau := \frac{T}{N}$  for  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then, as  $\tau \to 0$ ,

$$\frac{1}{\tau} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \chi_{((k-1)\tau,k\tau)}(t) \int_{(k-1)\tau}^{k\tau} q'(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \to q'(t) \qquad \text{weakly in } L^2(0,T;L^2(0,L)).$$
(A.1)

Proof. We set

$$g_{\tau}(x,t) \coloneqq \frac{1}{\tau} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \chi_{((k-1)\tau,k\tau)}(t) \int_{(k-1)\tau}^{k\tau} \left( q'(x,t) - q'(x,s) \right) \mathrm{d}s.$$

We can estimate

$$\begin{split} |g_{\tau}(x,t)|^{2} &= \frac{1}{\tau^{2}} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \chi_{((k-1)\tau,k\tau)}(t) \left| \int_{(k-1)\tau}^{k\tau} \left( q'(x,t) - q'(x,s) \right) \mathrm{d}s \right|^{2} \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{\tau} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \chi_{((k-1)\tau,k\tau)}(t) \int_{(k-1)\tau}^{k\tau} |q'(x,t) - q'(x,s)|^{2} \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant 2 |q'(x,t)|^{2} + \frac{2}{\tau} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \chi_{((k-1)\tau,k\tau)}(t) \int_{(k-1)\tau}^{k\tau} |q'(x,s)|^{2} \mathrm{d}s \end{split}$$

so that by integrating on  $(0, L) \times (0, T)$  we obtain

$$\int_0^T \int_0^L |g_\tau(x,t)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \leqslant 4 \int_0^T \int_0^L |q'(x,t)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t =: M < \infty.$$

This implies that, up to subsequences,  $g_{\tau} \rightharpoonup g$  weakly in  $L^2((0,L) \times (0,T))$ .

We shall now show that g = 0. The estimate

$$|g_{\tau}(x,t)| \leqslant \frac{1}{\tau} \int_{t-\tau}^{t+\tau} \left| q'(x,t) - q'(x,s) \right| \mathrm{d}s$$

implies that  $||g_{\tau}(t)||_{L^{2}(0,L)} \to 0$  for almost every  $t \in (0,T)$  by [34, Theorem 8.19]; in turn, given  $\varepsilon > 0$ , by Egorov's Theorem we can find a set  $A_{\varepsilon} \subset (0,T)$  with measure smaller than

 $\varepsilon$  such that  $\|g_{\tau}(t)\|_{L^2(0,L)} \to 0$  uniformly on  $(0,T) \setminus A_{\varepsilon}$ . Therefore for any test function  $\varphi \in L^2((0,L) \times (0,T))$  we have

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{\tau \to 0} \left| \int_0^T \int_0^L g_\tau(x,t) \varphi(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \right| &\leq \limsup_{\tau \to 0} \int_0^T \|g_\tau(t)\|_{L^2(0,L)} \|\varphi(t)\|_{L^2(0,L)} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \limsup_{\tau \to 0} \int_{A_\varepsilon} \|g_\tau(t)\|_{L^2(0,L)} \|\varphi(t)\|_{L^2(0,L)} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq M^{\frac{1}{2}} \bigg( \int_{A_\varepsilon} \|\varphi(t)\|_{L^2(0,L)}^2 \, \mathrm{d}t \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \end{split}$$

and the right-hand side can be made arbitrarily small as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . This shows that  $g_{\tau} \rightharpoonup 0$  weakly in  $L^2((0,L) \times (0,T))$  and (A.1) holds.

We discuss in the following two lemmas the dependence on t of the function  $z_{\varphi(t)}$  introduced in (2.10), when  $\varphi$  depends on t.

**Lemma A.2.** Let  $q \in L^2(0,T;V')$  and let  $z_{q(t)}$  be defined by (2.10). Then the map  $t \mapsto z_{q(t)}$  belongs to  $L^2(0,T;V)$ .

*Proof.* For every  $\varphi \in V'$  the map

$$t \mapsto \left\langle \varphi, z_{q(t)} \right\rangle_{V',V} \stackrel{\text{(2.10)}}{=} \int_0^L z'_{\varphi}(x) z'_{q(t)}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \left\langle q(t), z_{\varphi} \right\rangle_{V',V}$$

is measurable thanks to the assumption  $q \in L^2(0,T;V')$ . Hence the map  $t \mapsto z_{q(t)}$  is weakly measurable from (0,T) to V and in turn strongly measurable, by Pettis Theorem (see [34, Theorem 8.3]) and the separability of V. Moreover, by (2.10) we have

$$\int_0^T \left\| z_{q(t)} \right\|_V^2 \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_0^T \left\| q(t) \right\|_{V'}^2 < \infty$$

since  $q \in L^2(0,T;V')$ , which shows that the map  $t \mapsto z_{q(t)}$  is Bochner integrable and belongs to  $L^2(0,T;V)$ .

Notice that, if  $q \in L^2(0,T;L^2(0,L))$ , then by (2.15) we have  $q \in L^2(0,T;V')$ . Hence we can apply the previous lemma to deduce that also in this case  $z_{q(t)} \in L^2(0,T;V)$ .

**Lemma A.3.** Let  $u \in H^1(0,T;V')$  and let  $z_{u(t)}$  be defined by (2.10). Then the map  $\psi(t) := z_{u(t)}$  is in  $H^1(0,T;V)$ , and

$$\psi(t) = z_{\dot{u}(t)}.\tag{A.2}$$

*Proof.* We first observe that  $\psi \in L^2(0,T;V)$ , thanks to Lemma A.2. Similarly, the map  $t \mapsto z_{\dot{u}(t)}$  is in  $L^2(0,T;V)$ , thanks to the same lemma applied to  $q = \dot{u} \in L^2(0,T;V')$ .

We now show equality (A.2), which will complete the proof of the lemma. By definition of weak derivative, (A.2) is equivalent to show

$$\int_0^T z_{\dot{u}(t)}\varphi(t)\,\mathrm{d}t = -\int_0^T z_{u(t)}\dot{\varphi}(t)\,\mathrm{d}t \tag{A.3}$$

for every  $\varphi \in C_c^1(0,T)$ , where (A.3) is an equality between elements of V. For every  $\eta \in V$  we have

$$\begin{split} \left( \int_{0}^{T} z_{u(t)} \dot{\varphi}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \,, \, \eta \right)_{V} &= \int_{0}^{T} \left( z_{u(t)} \dot{\varphi}(t) , \eta \right)_{V} \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{L} z'_{u(t)}(x) \dot{\varphi}(t) \eta'(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\stackrel{(2.10)}{=} \int_{0}^{T} \dot{\varphi}(t) \, \langle u(t) , \eta \rangle_{V',V} \, \mathrm{d}t = \left\langle \int_{0}^{T} u(t) \dot{\varphi}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t , \eta \right\rangle_{V',V} \\ &= - \left\langle \int_{0}^{T} \dot{u}(t) \varphi(t) \, \mathrm{d}t , \eta \right\rangle_{V',V} = - \int_{0}^{T} \varphi(t) \, \langle \dot{u}(t) , \eta \rangle_{V',V} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ \stackrel{(2.10)}{=} - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{L} \varphi(t) z'_{\dot{u}(t)}(x) \eta'(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t = - \int_{0}^{T} (\varphi(t) z_{\dot{u}(t)}, \eta)_{V} \mathrm{d}t \\ &= - \left( \int_{0}^{T} \varphi(t) z_{\dot{u}(t)} \, \mathrm{d}t \,, \, \eta \right)_{V} \,. \end{split}$$

In the previous chain of equalities we used several times the property that the Bochner integral commutes with linear operators, see for instance [34, Theorem 8.13]. This proves claim (A.3).  $\Box$ 

**Acknowledgments.** The authors thank the hospitality of the departments of mathematics of the universities of Heidelberg and Vienna, of SISSA, and of the E. Schrödinger Institute in Vienna, where this research was developed. The authors are members of the GNAMPA group of INdAM. This work was partially supported by the 2015 GNAMPA project *Fenomeni Critici nella Meccanica dei Materiali: un Approccio Variazionale*. E.D. acknowledges the support of the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) project P 27052 and of the SFB project F65 *Taming complexity in partial differential systems*. The research of M.M. was partially supported by grant FCT-UTA\_CMU/MAT/0005/2009 *Thin Structures, Homogenization, and Multiphase Problems*, by the ERC Advanced grant *Quasistatic and Dynamic Evolution Problems in Plasticity and Fracture* (Grant agreement no.: 290888), by the ERC Starting grant *High-Dimensional Sparse Optimal Control* (Grant agreement no.: 306274), and by the DFG Project *Identifikation von Energien durch Beobachtung der zeitlichen Entwicklung von Systemen* (FO 767/7). Finally, the authors thank Stefano Melchionna for fruitful discussions.

#### References

- H. ABELS, D. DEPNER, AND H. GARCKE: On an incompressible Navier-Stokes / Cahn-Hilliard system with degenerate mobility. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 30 (2013), 1175–1190.
- [2] H. ABELS, AND M. RÖGER: Existence of weak solutions for a non-classical sharp interface model for a twophase flow of viscous, incompressible fluids. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 26 (2009), 2403–2424.
- [3] G. AKAGI: Global attractors for doubly nonlinear evolution equations with non-monotone perturbations. J. Differential Equations 250 (2011), 1850–1875.
- [4] L. AMBROSIO: Minimizing movements. Rend. Accad. Naz. Sci. XL Mem. Mat. Appl. 19 (1995), no. 5, 191–246.
  [5] L. AMBROSIO, N. GIGLI, AND G. SAVARÉ: Gradient Flows in Metric Spaces and in the Space of Probability
- Measures. Lectures in Mathematics ETH Zürich, Birkhäuser, 2000.
- [6] V. BARBU: Analysis and control of nonlinear infinite-dimensional systems. Mathematics in Science and Engineering, 190. Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1993.
- K. B. BLODGETT: Films built by depositing successive monomolecular layers on a solid surface. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 57 (1935), no. 6, 1007–1022.
- [8] F. BOYER: Nonhomogeneous Cahn-Hilliard fluids. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 18 (2001), 225–259.
- [9] J. W. CAHN AND J. HILLIARD: Free energy of a nonuniform system. I. Interfacial free energy. J. Chem. Phys., 28 (1958), 258–267.
- [10] X. D. CHEN, S. LENHERT, M. HIRTZ, N. LU, H. FUCHS, AND L. F. CHI: Langmuir-Blodgett patterning: A bottom-up way to build mesostructures over large areas. Acc. Chem. Res. 40 (2007), 393–401.
- [11] L. CHERFILS, A. MIRANVILLE, AND S. ZELIK: The Cahn-Hilliard equation with logarithmic potentials. Milan J. Math. 79 (2011), 561–596.
- [12] P. COLLI, P. KREJČÍ, E. ROCCA, AND J. SPREKELS: Nonlinear evolution inclusions arising from phase change models. Czechoslovak Math. J., 57(132) (2007), 1067–1098.
- [13] P. COLLI, G. GILARDI, AND J. SPREKELS: On an application of Tikhonov's fixed point theorem to a nonlocal Cahn-Hilliard type system modeling phase separation. J. Differential Equations, 260 (2016), 7940–7964.
- [14] P. COLLI, G. GILARDI, AND J. SPREKELS: On a Cahn-Hilliard system with convection and dynamic boundary conditions. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 197 (2018), 1445–1475.
- [15] F. DELLA PORTA AND M. GRASSELLI: Convective nonlocal Cahn-Hilliard equations with reaction terms. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B 20 (2015), 1529–1553.
- [16] F. DELLA PORTA AND M. GRASSELLI: On the nonlocal Cahn-Hilliard-Brinkman and Cahn-Hilliard-Hele-Shaw systems. Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 15 (2016) 299–317.
- [17] A. EDEN, V. K. KALANTAROV, AND S. V. ZELIK: Global solvability and blow up for the convective Cahn-Hilliard equations with concave potentials. J. Math. Phys. 54 (2013), 041502.
- [18] S.-I. E1: The effect of nonlocal convection on reaction-diffusion equations. Hiroshima Math. J. 17 (1987) 281–307.
- [19] I. FONSECA AND G. LEONI: Modern methods in the Calculus of Variations: L<sup>p</sup> spaces. New York, Springer, 2007.
- [20] F. FRANK, C. LIU, F. O. ALPAK, AND B. RIVIERE: A finite volume / discontinuous Galerkin method for the advective Cahn-Hilliard equation with degenerate mobility on porous domains stemming from micro-CT imaging. Computational Geosciences 22 (2018), 543–563.
- [21] S. FRIGERI AND M. GRASSELLI: Global and Trajectory Attractors for a Nonlocal Cahn-Hilliard-Navier-Stokes System. J. Dyn. Diff. Equat. 24 (2012), 827–856.
- [22] S. FRIGERI, M. GRASSELLI, AND E. ROCCA: A diffuse interface model for two-phase incompressible flows with non-local interactions and non-constant mobility. Nonlinearity 28 (2015), 1257–1293.

- [23] C. G. GAL AND M. GRASSELLI: Asymptotic behavior of a Cahn-Hilliard-Navier-Stokes system in 2D. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 27 (2010), 401–436.
- [24] C. G. GAL AND M. GRASSELLI: Longtime behavior of nonlocal Cahn-Hilliard equations. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 34 (2014), 145–179.
- [25] M. GRASSELLI, A. MIRANVILLE, R. ROSSI, AND G. SCHIMPERNA: Analysis of the Cahn-Hilliard Equation with a Chemical Potential Dependent Mobility. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 36 (2011), 1193–1238.
- [26] J. K. HALE: Asymptotic Behavior of Dissipative Systems. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1988.
- [27] L. I. IGNAT, AND J. D. ROSSI: A nonlocal convection-diffusion equation. J. Funct. Anal. 251 (2007) 399–437.
  [28] A. IUORIO AND S. MELCHIONNA: Long-time behavior of a nonlocal Cahn-Hilliard equation with reaction. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 38 (2018), 3765–3788.
- [29] M. H. KÖPF, S. V. GUREVICH, R. FRIEDRICH, AND U. THIELE: Substrate-mediated pattern formation in monolayer transfer: a reduced model. New Journal of Physics 14 (2012), no. 2, 023016.
- [30] M. H. KÖPF, S. V. GUREVICH, R. FRIEDRICH, AND L. CHI: Pattern Formation in Monolayer Transfer Systems with Substrate-Mediated Condensation. Langmuir, 26(13) (2010), 10444–10447.
- [31] M. H. KÖPF AND U. THIELE: Emergence of the bifurcation structure of a Langmuir-Blodgett transfer model. Nonlinearity 27 (2014), no. 11, 2711–2734.
- [32] O. LADYZHENSKAYA: Attractors for Semigroups and Evolution Equations. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991.
- [33] I. LANGMUIR: The constitution and fundamental properties of solids and liquids. II. Liquids. 1. Journal of the American Chemical Society 39 (1917), no. 9, 1848–1906.
- [34] G. LEONI: A First Course in Sobolev Spaces. Second Edition. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2017.
- [35] W. LIU, A. BERTOZZI, AND T. KOLOKOLNIKOV: Diffuse interface surface tension models in an expanding flow. Commun. Math. Sci. 10 (2012), 387–418.
- [36] J. LIU, L. DEDÉ, J. A. EVANS, M. J. BORDEN, AND T. J. R. HUGHES: Isogeometric analysis of the advective Cahn-Hilliard equation: Spinodal decomposition under shear flow. Journal of Computational Physics 242 (2013), 321–350.
- [37] A. MIRANVILLE AND G. SCHIMPERNA: On a doubly nonlinear Cahn-Hilliard-Gurtin system. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B 14 (2010) 675–697.
- [38] A. NOVICK-COHEN: The Cahn-Hilliard equation. Handbook of differential equations: evolutionary equations. Vol. IV, 201–228, Handb. Differ. Equ., Elsevier/North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2008.
- [39] L. Ó NÁRAIGH: The role of advection in phase-separating binary liquids. Ph.D. thesis, 2008.
- [40] O. L. OLIVEIRA JR.: Langmuir-Blodgett Films Properties and Possible Applications. Brazilian Journal of Physics, 22(2) (1992), 60–69.
- [41] O. PURRUCKER, A. FÖRTIG, K. LÜDTKE, R. JORDAN, AND M. TANAKA: Confinement of Transmembrane Cell Receptors in Tunable Stripe Micropatterns. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 127 (2005), 1258–1264.
- [42] E. ROCCA, AND J. SPREKELS: Optimal distributed control of a nonlocal convective Cahn-Hilliard equation by the velocity in three dimensions. SIAM J. Control Optim. 53 (2015) 1654–1680.
- [43] G. ROBERTS (ED.): Langmuir-Blodgett Films. Springer US, 1990.
- [44] G. SCHIMPERNA: Global attractors for Cahn-Hilliard equations with nonconstant mobility. Nonlinearity 20 (2007), 2365–2387.
- [45] S. J. WATSON, F. OTTO, B. Y. RUBINSTEIN, AND S. H. DAVIS: Coarsening dynamics of the convective Cahn-Hilliard equation. Phys. D 178 (2003) 127–148.
- [46] M. WILCZEK AND S. V. GUREVICH: Locking of periodic patterns in Cahn-Hilliard models for Langmuir-Blodgett transfer. Phys. Rev. E 90 (2014), 042926.
- [47] J. A. ZASADZINSKI, R. VISWANATHAN, L. MADSEN, J. GARNAES, AND D. K. SCHWARTZ: Langmuir-Blodgett films. Science, 263 (1994), 1726–1733.
- [48] J. ZHU, M. WILCZEK, M. HIRTZ, J. HAO, W. WANG, H. FUCHS, S. V. GUREVICH, AND L. CHI: Branch Suppression and Orientation Control of Langmuir-Blodgett Patterning on Prestructured Surfaces. Adv. Mater. Interfaces, 3 (2016), 1600478.

DIPARTIMENTO DI MATEMATICA, UNIVERSITY OF TRENTO, VIA SOMMARIVE, 14, 38123 POVO (TN), ITALY *E-mail address*, M. Bonacini: marco.bonacini@unitn.it

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, UNIVERSITY OF VIENNA, OSKAR-MORGENSTERN-PLATZ 1, 1090 VIENNA, AUSTRIA

E-mail address, E. Davoli: elisa.davoli@univie.ac.at

DIPARTIMENTO DI SCIENZE MATEMATICHE "G. L. LAGRANGE", POLITECNICO DI TORINO, CORSO DUCA DEGLI ABRUZZI, 24, 10129 TORINO, ITALY

E-mail address, M. Morandotti (☑): marco.morandotti@polito.it